RATIONAL POINTS ON SURFACES

BIANCA VIRAY ASSISTANT: ARNE SMEETS ARIZONA WINTER SCHOOL 2015

The goal of these lectures is to serve as a "user's guide" to obstructions to the existence of k-points on smooth projective varieties, where k is a global field. As such, the focus will be on examples and the main ideas behind results, rather than detailed proofs (for those I will refer you to a number of excellent references).

Remark 0.1. In addition to asking whether the existence of k_v -points for all places v implies the existence of a k-point (i.e., whether the Hasse principle holds), one can also ask whether a set of k_v -points can be approximated by a k-point, i.e., whether X satisfies weak approximation. Many of the tools, conjectures, and results for the question of existence of rational points also hold for the question of density. For time and space considerations, we will focus mainly on the Hasse principle and its obstructions and mention weak approximation only when there are differences.

CONTENTS

General notation	2
1. An example of a variety that fails the Hasse principle	2
2. The Brauer group	4
2.1. The Brauer group of a field	4
2.2. The Brauer group of a scheme	6
3. Local and global points	7
3.1. The Brauer-Manin obstruction	8
3.2. The étale-Brauer obstruction	9
3.3. Beyond étale-Brauer	11
4. Geometry and arithmetic	11
4.1. Kodaira dimension and other numerical invariants	12
4.2. Geometry of surfaces of Kodaira dimension $-\infty$	12
4.3. Arithmetic of surfaces of Kodaira dimension $-\infty$	13
4.4. Surfaces of Kodaira dimension 0	14
5. A detailed example	15
5.1. Local solubility	16
5.2. Lack of \mathbb{Q} -points	17
5.3. Nonempty algebraic Brauer set	18
5.4. Transcendental Brauer elements	20
6. Project descriptions	22
6.1. Double covers of surfaces and 2-torsion Brauer classes	22
6.2. Relationship between Br Y and Br Y^{τ} where Y^{τ} is a twist of Y	23

6.3.	Central simple algebra representatives for p -torsion transcendental Brauer	
	classes with $p > 2$	23
6.4.	The cokernel of $\operatorname{Br}_1 X \to \operatorname{H}^1(G_k, \operatorname{Pic} \overline{X})$	24
6.5.	Brauer groups of del Pezzo surfaces	24
6.6.	2-torsion transcendental classes on diagonal quartics	25
Refe	References	

General notation. Throughout, k will denote a field, k^{alg} will be a fixed algebraic closure, and k^{sep} will be the separable closure of k in k^{alg} . We write G_k for the absolute Galois group $\text{Gal}(k^{\text{sep}}/k)$.

A k-variety will be a separated scheme of finite type over k. If X is a k-variety we will write X^{alg} and X^{sep} for the base changes $X \times_{\text{Spec } k} \text{Spec } k^{\text{alg}}$ and $X \times_{\text{Spec } k} \text{Spec } k^{\text{sep}}$, respectively. If k has characteristic 0, then we will sometimes write \overline{k} for $k^{\text{alg}} = k^{\text{sep}}$ and \overline{X} for $X^{\text{alg}} = X^{\text{sep}}$.

If X and S are k-schemes, we write $X(S) = \text{Hom}_k(S, X)$. If S = Spec A, then we write X(A) for X(Spec A).

1. An example of a variety that fails the Hasse principle

Example 1.1 ([Lin40, Rei42]). Let C denote the smooth genus 1 curve given by

$$V(2y^2 - x^4 + 17z^4) \subset \mathbb{P}_{\mathbb{Q}}(1, 2, 1),$$

where $\mathbb{P}_{\mathbb{Q}}(1,2,1)$ denotes the weighted projective space in which x and z have degree 1 and y has degree 2. Alternatively, we can view C as the intersection of the following two quadrics in \mathbb{P}^3

$$Q_1: 2Y^2 - W^2 + 17Z^2, \quad Q_2: WZ - X^2.$$

We claim that $C(\mathbb{A}_{\mathbb{Q}}) \neq \emptyset$ and $C(\mathbb{Q}) = \emptyset$.

Let us first prove local solubility. The existence of an \mathbb{R} -point is clear. The curve C has good reduction at all $p \neq 2, 17$. As the Weil conjectures (proved by Weil in the case of curves [Wei48]) show that a smooth genus 1 curve always has an \mathbb{F}_q -point (for any q), $C(\mathbb{F}_p) \neq \emptyset$ for all primes $p \neq 2, 17$. Furthermore, a smooth \mathbb{F}_p -point lifts to a \mathbb{Q}_p -point by Hensel's Lemma. Since $2 \equiv 6^2 \mod 17$ and $3^4 \equiv 17 \mod 64$, Hensel's Lemma also implies that

$$\left(\sqrt{2}:\sqrt{2}:0\right) \in C(\mathbb{Q}_{17}) \text{ and } \left(\sqrt[4]{17}:0:1\right) \in C(\mathbb{Q}_2).$$

Now we prove that $C(\mathbb{Q}) = \emptyset$. Assume that $C(\mathbb{Q}) \neq \emptyset$ and let $(x_0 : y_0 : z_0)$ be a \mathbb{Q} -rational point. By scaling, we may assume that $x_0, y_0, z_0 \in \mathbb{Z}$. If there exists a prime p that divides x_0 and z_0 , then p^4 must divide $2y_0^2$ and so $p^2|y_0$. Therefore, we may scale x_0, y_0, z_0 to ensure that x_0 and z_0 are relatively prime. A similar argument shows that we may also assume that $gcd(x_0, y_0) = gcd(y_0, z_0) = 1$.

Since x_0, y_0 and z_0 are pairwise relatively prime, for any odd prime $p|y_0$, we must have $17 \in \mathbb{F}_p^{\times 2}$. Since 17 is 1 modulo 4, quadratic reciprocity then implies that $p \in \mathbb{F}_{17}^{\times 2}$ for any odd prime $p|y_0$. Since $-1, 2 \in \mathbb{F}_{17}^{\times 2}$, this implies that $y_0 = y_0^{\prime 2} \mod 17$. Substituting this into the defining equation for C shows that $2 \in \mathbb{F}_{17}^{\times 4}$, resulting in a contradiction.

This proof arguably raises more questions than it answers. Was it necessary to work with the prime p = 17? Does a similar argument work for any equation of the form

$$ay^2 - x^4 + bz^4 = 0?$$

If an analogous argument for $ay^2 - x^4 + bz^4 = 0$ doesn't result in a contradiction, do we expect there to be a rational point?

Given these questions, one might prefer to have a proof which is less *ad hoc*, perhaps as the expense of brevity, which may then generalize more easily to other varieties.

Example 1.2. We again consider the curve C given by

$$V(2y^2 - x^4 + 17z^4) \subset \mathbb{P}_{\mathbb{Q}}(1, 2, 1),$$

and give a different argument to prove that it has no rational points. We will phrase our argument in terms of the Hilbert symbol. Let v be a place of \mathbb{Q} and let $a, b \in \mathbb{Q}_v^{\times}$. Recall the definition of the Hilbert symbol

$$\langle a, b \rangle_v = \begin{cases} -1 & \text{if } as^2 + bt^2 = u^2 \text{ has only the trivial solution in } \mathbb{Q}_v, \\ 1 & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

Since a conic over \mathbb{Q}_v has infinitely many nontrivial solutions as soon as there is one nontrivial solution, the Hilbert symbol may equivalently be defined as

$$\langle a, b \rangle_{v} = \begin{cases} -1 & \text{if } b \notin \operatorname{Norm}_{\mathbb{Q}_{v}(\sqrt{a})/\mathbb{Q}_{v}}(\mathbb{Q}_{v}(\sqrt{a})^{\times}) \\ 1 & \text{if } b \in \operatorname{Norm}_{\mathbb{Q}_{v}(\sqrt{a})/\mathbb{Q}_{v}}(\mathbb{Q}_{v}(\sqrt{a})^{\times}) \end{cases}$$

In this proof, we will work with the model of C that is given by the intersection of two quadrics in \mathbb{P}^3 . Let $P = [X_0, Y_0, Z_0, W_0] \in C(\mathbb{Q}_v)$. Since $Z_0W_0 = X_0^2$, whenever $Z_0W_0Y_0 \neq 0$, we have

$$\langle 17, Z_0/Y_0 \rangle_v = \langle 17, W_0/Y_0 \rangle_v.$$

We claim that $\langle 17, Z_0/Y_0 \rangle_v = 1$ if $v \neq 17$ and $\langle 17, Z_0/Y_0 \rangle_v = -1$ if v = 17. Indeed, if $17 \in \mathbb{Q}_v^{\times 2}$ (which includes v = 2 or $v = \infty$) then this is clear. Assume that $17 \notin \mathbb{Q}_v^{\times 2}$ and $v \neq 17$. Since $v((W_0/Y_0)^2 - 17(Z_0/Y_0)^2) = v(2) = 0$, at least one of W_0/Y_0 or Z_0/Y_0 must be a v-adic unit. As $\mathbb{Q}_v(\sqrt{17})/\mathbb{Q}_v$ is unramified if $v \neq 17$, all v-adic units are norms and so $\langle 17, Z_0/Y_0 \rangle_v = \langle 17, W_0/Y_0 \rangle_v = 1$.

It remains to consider the case that v = 17. Modulo 17, $(W_0/Y_0)^2 \equiv 2$ so W_0/Y_0 is a square modulo 17 if and only if 2 is a fourth power modulo 17. Since $\mathbb{F}_{17}^{\times 4} = \{1, -1, 4, -4\}, W_0/Y_0 \mod 17 \notin \mathbb{F}_{17}^{\times 2}$ and so $(17, W_0/Y_0)_{17} = -1$.

Now assume that there exists a point $P = [X_0, Y_0, Z_0, W_0] \in C(\mathbb{Q})$. One can check that $Z_0W_0Y_0 \neq 0$, thus we may consider the product of Hilbert symbols

$$\prod_{v} \langle 17, W_0/Y_0 \rangle_v$$

One the one hand, this product is equal to -1 by the above claim. On the other hand, since $W_0/Y_0 \in \mathbb{Q}^{\times}$ the product formula for Hilbert symbols states that this product is 1. This gives a contradiction, thus $C(\mathbb{Q}) = \emptyset$.

At first blush, this argument may seem no better than then previous argument. However, we will see later that this argument is an example of a general phenomenon known as the Brauer-Manin obstruction.

2. The Brauer group

2.1. The Brauer group of a field. We will give a brief overview of the Brauer group of a field. For more details see [GS06, §§2,4] and [Mil, Chap. 4].

Let k be a field, let k^{sep} denote a separable closure, and let $G_k := \text{Gal}(k^{\text{sep}}/k)$. A central simple algebra (CSA) \mathcal{A} over k is a finite-dimensional k-algebra whose center is k and which has no non-trivial proper 2-sided ideals. Wedderburn's theorem implies that every central simple algebra over k is isomorphic to $M_n(D)$ for some positive integer n and some division algebra D with center k. Let \mathcal{A} and \mathcal{A}' be two central simple k-algebras; we say that \mathcal{A} and \mathcal{A}' are Brauer equivalent if $\mathcal{A} \otimes_k M_n(k) \cong \mathcal{A}' \otimes_k M_m(k)$ for some $n, m \in \mathbb{Z}_{>0}$. Then we define the Brauer group of k

$$\operatorname{Br} k := \frac{\{\operatorname{CSA}/k\}}{\operatorname{Brauer equivalence}};$$

this set forms an abelian group under tensor product. Equivalently, one can define the Brauer group using Galois cohomology

$$\operatorname{Br} k := \operatorname{H}^2(G_k, k^{\operatorname{sep} \times}).$$

(For a proof that these definitions are, in fact, equivalent see [GS06, Thm. 4.4.5 and Cor. 2.4.10].)

Exercise 2.1. Assume that k is algebraically closed. Prove that Br k = 0. (Hint: Let D be division ring that is finite dimensional over k, let $d \in D^{\times}$, and consider k(d).) \diamond

Example 2.2 (Wedderburn's little theorem). If k is finite, then Br k = 0.

Exercise 2.3. Prove that Br $\mathbb{R} \cong \mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z}$ and that the unique nontrivial element is represented by the Hamiltonian quaternions

$$\mathbb{H} := \mathbb{R} \oplus \mathbb{R}i \oplus \mathbb{R}j \oplus \mathbb{R}ij$$

where $i^{2} = j^{2} = -1$ and ji = -ij.

Example 2.4. If k is a nonarchimedean local field, then local class field theory gives a canonical isomorphism, the invariant map,

$$\operatorname{inv}_k \colon \operatorname{Br} k \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}.$$

If k is the completion of a global field at a nonarchimedean place v, then we will write inv_v for inv_k .

Example 2.5. Let k be a global field and let Ω_k denote the set of places of k. Then the fundamental exact sequence of global class field theory completely characterizes the Brauer group of k; indeed, it states that the sequence

$$0 \longrightarrow \operatorname{Br} k \longrightarrow \bigoplus_{v \in \Omega_k} \operatorname{Br} k_v \xrightarrow{\sum_v \operatorname{inv}_v} \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z} \longrightarrow 0$$
(2.1)

is exact. Here inv_v denotes the invariant map from Example 2.4 in the case that v is nonarchimedean, it denotes the unique composition $\operatorname{Br} k_v \xrightarrow{\sim} \frac{1}{2}\mathbb{Z}/\mathbb{Z} \hookrightarrow \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}$ in the case that v is real, and it denotes the unique inclusion $\operatorname{Br} \mathbb{C} = 0 \hookrightarrow \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}$ if v is complex.

 \diamond

 \diamond

If K is any extension of k, we have a homomorphism

$$\operatorname{Br} k \to \operatorname{Br} K, \quad \mathcal{A} \mapsto \mathcal{A} \otimes_k K.$$

We define the relative Brauer group (of the extension K/k) to be the kernel of this homomorphism and we denote it Br(K/k). A Brauer class $\mathcal{A} \in Br k$ is said to be split by K or split over K if \mathcal{A} is contained in the subgroup Br(K/k). If K/k is a Galois extension, then Hilbert's Theorem 90 and the inflation-restriction sequence together yield an isomorphism

$$\operatorname{Br}(K/k) \cong \operatorname{H}^2(\operatorname{Gal}(K/k), K^{\times}).$$

An element $\mathcal{A} \in \operatorname{Br} k$ is cyclic if there exists a finite cyclic extension L/k (i.e., a Galois extension whose Galois group is a finite cyclic group) such that \mathcal{A} is split by L.

Exercise 2.6. Let L/k be a finite cyclic extension of degree n, let σ be a generator of the Galois group $\operatorname{Gal}(L/k)$, and let $b \in k^{\times}$. Consider the finite-dimensional k-algebra

$$(\sigma, b) := \frac{\bigoplus_{i=0}^{n-1} Ly^i}{y^n = b, \sigma(\alpha)y = y\alpha \text{ for all } \alpha \in L}.$$

Prove that (σ, b) is a central simple k-algebra which is split by L.

Throughout, we will identify the algebras from Example 2.6 with their class in $\operatorname{Br} k$.

If L/k is a cyclic extension, then $\mathrm{H}^{1}(\mathrm{Gal}(L/k), L^{\times})$ can be computed using Tate cohomology yielding that $\mathrm{Br}(L/k) \cong k^{\times}/\operatorname{Norm}_{L/k}(L^{\times})$. In fact, this isomorphism can be made explicit. As explained in [GS06, Cor. 4.7.4], we have

$$\frac{k^{\times}}{\operatorname{Norm}_{L/k}(L^{\times})} \xrightarrow{\sim} \operatorname{Br}(L/k), \quad b \mapsto (\sigma, b), \tag{2.2}$$

where σ is a fixed generator of $\operatorname{Gal}(L/k)$. In particular, the algebra (σ, b) is trivial in Br k if and only if $b \in \operatorname{Norm}_{L/k}(L^{\times})$.

Example 2.7. Let k be a nonarchimedean local field and let L/k be an *unramified* cyclic extension. If $\sigma \in \text{Gal}(L/k)$ induces the Frobenius map on the residue field then [Mil, Chap. IV, Ex. 4.2 and Prop. 4.3]

$$\operatorname{inv}_k\left((\sigma, b)\right) = \frac{v(b)}{[L:k]} \in \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}.$$

Remark 2.8. If σ and τ are generators of $\operatorname{Gal}(L/k)$, then for any $b \in k^{\times}$, (σ, b) and (τ, b) may not be Brauer equivalent, but always generate the same *subgroup* of Br k. In situations where we are concerned with the subgroup generated by (σ, b) rather than the particular generator, we will abuse notation and write (L/k, b) for any algebra of the form (σ, b) , where σ is a generator of $\operatorname{Gal}(L/k)$.

If k contains the n^{th} roots of unity, then by Kummer theory any cyclic extension L is of the form $k(\sqrt[n]{a})$ for some $a \in k^{\times}$. Further, any generator $\sigma \in \text{Gal}(L/k)$ is determined by a primitive n^{th} root of unity ζ . In this case, we write $(a, b)_{\zeta}$ for the cyclic algebra class $(\sqrt[n]{a} \mapsto \zeta \sqrt[n]{a}, b)$ and $(a, b)_n$ for $(k(\sqrt[n]{a})/k, b)$. The algebra (class) $(a, b)_{\zeta}$ is called a symbol algebra.

Exercise 2.9. Assume that $\mu_n \subset k$. Let $a, b \in k^{\times}$ and fix a primitive n^{th} root of unity ζ . Prove that $(a, b)_{\zeta} = (b, a)_{\zeta^{-1}}$ and $(a, b)_{\zeta} = (a, b(-a)^i)_{\zeta}$ for all $i \in \mathbb{Z}$.

 \diamond

2.2. The Brauer group of a scheme. Let X be a scheme. We define the (cohomological) Brauer group of X to be

$$\operatorname{Br} X := \operatorname{H}^{2}_{\operatorname{et}}(X, \mathbb{G}_{m}).$$

If X is regular, integral, and noetherian, then we have an injection $\operatorname{Br} X \hookrightarrow \operatorname{Br} \mathbf{k}(X)$, where $\mathbf{k}(X)$ denotes the function field of X. Furthermore, if n is a positive integer that is invertible on X or if n is any positive integer and dim $X \leq 2$, then we have an exact sequence

$$0 \longrightarrow (\operatorname{Br} X)[n] \longrightarrow (\operatorname{Br} \mathbf{k}(X))[n] \xrightarrow{\oplus_x \partial_x} \bigoplus_{x \in X^{(1)}} \operatorname{H}^1\left(\kappa(x), \frac{1}{n}\mathbb{Z}/\mathbb{Z}\right),$$
(2.3)

where $X^{(1)}$ denotes the set of codimension 1 points of X and $\kappa(x)$ denotes the residue field of x. The maps ∂_x are called **residue maps** and an element $\mathcal{A} \in \operatorname{Br} \mathbf{k}(X)[n]$ is said to be unramified at $x \in X^{(1)}$ if $\mathcal{A} \in \ker \partial_x$. Thus, we may view $(\operatorname{Br} X)[n]$ as the unramified subgroup of $(\operatorname{Br} \mathbf{k}(X))[n]$.

Lemma 2.10. Let $L/\mathbf{k}(X)$ be a cyclic extension of prime degree p that is unramified at $x \in X^{(1)}$. Then $(L/\mathbf{k}(X), b) \in \ker \partial_x$ if and only if x splits completely in L or $v_x(b) \equiv 0 \mod p$, where v_x denotes the discrete valuation associated to x.

Remark 2.11. There are many definitions of residue maps in the literature. Although the definitions do not always agree, in each case the kernels agree. Since we are mainly concerned with the kernel of ∂_x , we will allow ourselves this ambiguity. See [CT95, Remark 3.3.2] for an overview of the different definitions.

In the case that X is a variety over a field k, we can consider the following filtration of the Brauer group:

$$\operatorname{Br}_0 X := \operatorname{im}(\operatorname{Br} k \to \operatorname{Br} X) \subset \operatorname{Br}_1 X := \operatorname{ker}(\operatorname{Br} X \to \operatorname{Br} X^{\operatorname{sep}}) \subset \operatorname{Br} X.$$

Elements of $\operatorname{Br}_0 X$ are constant and elements of $\operatorname{Br}_1 X$ are algebraic. Any remaining elements are termed transcendental. We say that X has trivial Brauer group if $\operatorname{Br} X = \operatorname{Br}_0 X$.

2.2.1. Algebraic Brauer classes. If $\mathbf{k}[X^{\text{sep}}]^{\times} = k^{\text{sep}^{\times}}$, i.e., if the only regular invertible functions on X^{sep} are constants, then the exact sequence of low degree terms from the Hochschild-Serre spectral sequence yields

$$0 \to \operatorname{Pic} X \to (\operatorname{Pic} X^{\operatorname{sep}})^{G_k} \to \operatorname{Br} k \to \operatorname{Br}_1 X \to \operatorname{H}^1(G_k, \operatorname{Pic} X^{\operatorname{sep}}) \to \operatorname{H}^3(k, \mathbb{G}_m)$$

If k is a local or global field, then $\mathrm{H}^{3}(k, \mathbb{G}_{m}) = 0$. (This follows from statements in [NSW08] as explained in [Poo14, Rmk. 6.7.10].) Hence, if k is a local or global field then we have an isomorphism

$$\frac{\operatorname{Br}_1 X}{\operatorname{Br}_0 k} \xrightarrow{\sim} \operatorname{H}^1(k, \operatorname{Pic} X^{\operatorname{sep}}).$$
(2.4)

This isomorphism is the main tool in computing explicit representatives for the algebraic part of the Brauer group. See [VA08, EJ12] for some examples.

2.2.2. Transcendental Brauer classes: general approaches. For simplicity, we restrict to the case when char(k) = 0. From the definition of Br_1 , we have an inclusion

$$\frac{\operatorname{Br} X}{\operatorname{Br}_1 X} \hookrightarrow \left(\operatorname{Br} \overline{X}\right)^{G_k}$$

This map need not be surjective (see [HS05] for an example), but Colliot-Thélène and Skorobogatov proved that the cokernel is always finite [CTS13].

By [Gro68, pp.144-147], we have an exact sequence of abelian groups

$$0 \to (\mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z})^{b_2 - \rho} \to \operatorname{Br} \overline{X} \to \bigoplus_{\ell} \operatorname{H}^3(\overline{X}, \mathbb{Z}_{\ell}(1))_{\operatorname{tors}} \to 0,$$

where b_2 is the second Betti number of X and ρ is the rank of NS \overline{X} . This exact sequence allows us to compute the group structure of Br \overline{X} ; however, we need to understand the structure of Br \overline{X} as a Galois module. To the best of my knowledge, there is currently no general method to do so.

2.2.3. Transcendental or geometric Brauer classes: some examples. The first example of an explicit transcendental Brauer class was constructed by Artin and Mumford in 1972 [AM72]. The first example exploited for arithmetic purposes was constructed by Harari in 1994 [Har96]. While we are still far from a general approach, over the past decade there have been a number of advances in the computation of transcendental elements. We review a few highlights here:

- (1) Our understanding of the Weil-Châtelet group of elliptic curves with rational 2-torsion can be translated into techniques for constructing representatives of 2-torsion Brauer classes on certain K3 surfaces (typically Kummer surfaces of products of elliptic curves with full rational 2-torsion or those with a genus 1 fibration whose Jacobian fibration has full rational 2-torsion) [Wit04, HS05, Ier10].
- (2) The purity theorem (2.3) can be used to give representatives for 2-torsion Brauer classes on surfaces that are double covers of ruled surfaces [CV14a, IOOV, BBM⁺]. This approach can also be viewed as a generalization of (1) (see [CV14b, CV14a]). If one is only interested in the structure of Br \overline{X} as a Galois module, and not in constructing representatives, then the same results can be obtained by purely cohomological arguments [Sko].
- (3) Hodge theoretic constructions yield K3 surfaces of degree 2 together with representatives for 2-torsion Brauer classes. While the constructions were originally stated over the complex numbers, they can be carried out over any field [HVAV11, HVA13].
- (4) If X is the Kummer surface of a product of elliptic curves E and E', then Skorobogatov and Zarhin relate the ℓ -torsion of the Brauer group of X to homomorphisms between E and E' and between $E[\ell]$ and $E'[\ell]$ [SZ12]. This was used by Ieronymou, Skorobogatov, and Zarhin [ISZ11] to compute the odd part of the transcendental Brauer group of diagonal quartic surfaces and by Newton [New] to compute the odd part of the transcendental Brauer group of Kum $(E \times E)$ where E is an elliptic curve with complex multiplication by a maximal order.

3. Local and global points

Throughout this section, we assume that k is a global field and that X is a smooth, geometrically integral k-variety. If S is a finite set of places of k, we write $\mathcal{O}_{k,S}$ for the ring

of S-integers. If v is a place of k, we write k_v for the completion of k at v and \mathcal{O}_v for the valuation ring in k_v . Let Ω_k denote the set of places of k and we write \mathbb{A}_k for the adèle ring of k. Recall that \mathbb{A}_k is the restricted product $\prod_{v \in \Omega_k} (k_v, \mathcal{O}_v)$ and as such has a topology.

For any k-variety X, there exists a finite set $S \subset \Omega_k$ and a separated scheme \mathcal{X} of finite type over $\mathcal{O}_{k,S}$ such that $\mathcal{X}_k \cong X$. Then one can show that the set of adèlic points $X(\mathbb{A}_k)$ is equal to the resticted product $\prod_{v \in \Omega_k} (X(k_v), \mathcal{X}(\mathcal{O}_v))$ [Poo14, Exer. 3.4]. The set $X(k_v)$ inherits a topology from k_v and hence $X(\mathbb{A}_k)$ can be given the restricted product topology (see [Poo14, §2.5.2] or [Con12] for more details). If X is proper, then $X(k_v) = \mathcal{X}(\mathcal{O}_v)$ and so $X(\mathbb{A}_k) = \prod_{v \in \Omega_k} X(k_v)$.

3.1. The Brauer-Manin obstruction. In this section we describe the Brauer-Manin obstruction, which was introduced by Manin [Man71]. Manin observed that the fundamental exact sequence of class field theory (2.1) and the functoriality of the Brauer group could be combined to define a subset $X(\mathbb{A}_k)^{\text{Br}}$ of $X(\mathbb{A}_k)$ that contains X(k).

For any $P_v \in X(k_v)$ and any $\mathcal{A} \in \text{Br } X$, we can pullback \mathcal{A} along P_v and obtain an element in Br k_v , the evaluation of \mathcal{A} in P_v ; we denote this element $\mathcal{A}(P_v)$.

Lemma 3.1. Assume that there exists a separated scheme \mathcal{X} of finite type over \mathcal{O}_v with $\mathcal{X}_{k_v} \cong X$ and such that $\mathcal{A} \in \operatorname{im}(\operatorname{Br} \mathcal{X} \to \operatorname{Br} X)$. Then $\mathcal{A}(P_v) = 0 \in \operatorname{Br} k_v$ for all $P_v \in \mathcal{X}(\mathcal{O}_v)$.

Proof. By the functoriality of the Brauer group, $\mathcal{A}(P_v) \in \operatorname{Br} \mathcal{O}_v$. By [Mil80, IV.2.13], the quotient map $\mathcal{O}_v \to \mathbb{F}_v$ induces an isomorphism $\operatorname{Br} \mathcal{O}_v \to \operatorname{Br} \mathbb{F}_v$. As $\operatorname{Br} \mathbb{F}_v$ is trivial, this completes the proof.

Lemma 3.2. For any $\mathcal{A} \in \operatorname{Br} X$, the image of $X(\mathbb{A}_k) \longrightarrow \prod_v \operatorname{Br} k_v, (P_v) \mapsto (\mathcal{A}(P_v))$ is contained in $\bigoplus_v \operatorname{Br} k_v$.

Proof. For any $\mathcal{A} \in \text{Br } X$ and any $(P_v) \in X(\mathbb{A}_k)$, all but finitely many places of v satisfy the assumptions of Lemma 3.1.

Thus, for any $\mathcal{A} \in \operatorname{Br} X$, we have the following commutative diagram

$$\begin{array}{c} X(k) & \longrightarrow & X(\mathbb{A}_k) \\ & \downarrow^{\mathcal{A}(-)} & \downarrow^{\mathcal{A}(-)} \\ \operatorname{Br} k & \longrightarrow & \bigoplus_v \operatorname{Br} k_v \end{array}$$

Therefore, by the fundamental sequence of global class field theory (see Example 2.5), we have

$$X(k) \subset X(\mathbb{A}_k)^{\mathcal{A}} := \left\{ (P_v) \in X(\mathbb{A}_k) : \sum_v \operatorname{inv}_v \mathcal{A}(P_v) = 0 \in \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z} \right\}.$$

For any subset $S \subset \operatorname{Br} X$, we can consider the set of adelic points orthogonal to the elements in S, which we denote by $X(\mathbb{A}_k)^S := \bigcap_{A \in S} X(\mathbb{A}_k)^A$. We will be particularly interested in the cases where $S = \operatorname{Br} X$ and $S = \operatorname{Br}_1 X$; these are called the Brauer-Manin set and the algebraic Brauer-Manin set of X, respectively, and denoted $X(\mathbb{A}_k)^{\operatorname{Br}}$ and $X(\mathbb{A}_k)^{\operatorname{Br}_1}$, respectively. It is clear that we have the following containments.

$$X(k) \subset X(\mathbb{A}_k)^{\mathrm{Br}} \subset X(\mathbb{A}_k)^{\mathrm{Br}_1} \subset X(\mathbb{A}_k).$$

Lemma 3.3. Let k_v be a local field and let X be a smooth k-variety. For any $\mathcal{A} \in \operatorname{Br} X$,

$$\operatorname{ev}_{\mathcal{A}} \colon X(k_v) \to \operatorname{Br} k_v$$

is locally constant.

Proof. To prove continuity it suffices to show that $ev_{\mathcal{A}}^{-1}(\mathcal{A}')$ is open for all $\mathcal{A}' \in im ev_{\mathcal{A}}$. By replacing $[\mathcal{A}]$ with $[\mathcal{A}] - [ev_{\mathcal{A}}(x)]$, we reduce to showing that $ev_{\mathcal{A}}^{-1}(0)$ is open. We may also assume that X is irreducible and affine.

By [Hoo80], $\mathcal{A} \in \text{Br } X$ is represented by an Azumaya algebra \mathcal{A}_{Az} . Let n^2 denote the rank of \mathcal{A}_{Az} and $f: W \to X$ be the associated PGL_n-torsor. We complete the proof by noting that $\text{ev}_{\mathcal{A}}^{-1}(0)$ is exactly equal to $f(W(k_v))$, which is open by the implicit function theorem. \Box

Proposition 3.4. If X is smooth, then $X(\mathbb{A}_k)^{\mathrm{Br}}$ is closed in the adelic topology.

Proof. Let $\mathcal{A} \in \operatorname{Br} X$ and let S be the finite set of primes for which the hypotheses of Lemma 3.1 are *not* satisfied. Let $(P_v) \in X(\mathbb{A}_k)$ be in the closure of $X(\mathbb{A}_k)^{\mathcal{A}}$. Thus, there exists a $(Q_v) \in X(\mathbb{A}_k)^{\mathcal{A}}$ such that

- (1) $Q_v \in \mathcal{X}(\mathcal{O}_v)$ for all $v \notin S$ such that $P_v \in \mathcal{X}(\mathcal{O}_v)$, and
- (2) Q_v is close enough to P_v so that $ev_{\mathcal{A}}(P) = ev_{\mathcal{A}}(P_v)$ for all $v \in S$ and all v such that $P_v \notin \mathcal{X}(\mathcal{O}_v)$.

Then by Lemma 3.1 $\operatorname{ev}_{\mathcal{A}}(P_v) = \operatorname{ev}_{\mathcal{A}}(Q_v)$ for all v so (P_v) is contained in $X(\mathbb{A}_k)^{\mathcal{A}}$. Thus $X(\mathbb{A}_k)^{\mathcal{A}}$ is closed and as $X(\mathbb{A}_k)^{\operatorname{Br}} = \bigcap_{\mathcal{A} \in \operatorname{Br} X} X(\mathbb{A}_k)^{\mathcal{A}}, X(\mathbb{A}_k)^{\operatorname{Br}}$ is also closed. \Box

3.2. The étale-Brauer obstruction. Let G be a finite étale group scheme over k and let $f: Y \to X$ be a fppf G-torsor over X.¹ Then, for any k-point $x \in X(k)$, the fiber Y_x is a G-torsor over k. As G-torsors over k are classified by $H^1(k, G)$, we obtain a partition of X(k) indexed by $H^1(k, G)$, namely

$$X(k) = \prod_{\tau \in \mathrm{H}^{1}(k,G)} \left\{ x \in X(k) : [Y_{x}] = \tau \right\}.$$
(3.1)

For any cocycle τ representing a class in $\mathrm{H}^1(k, G)$, we may use contracted products to construct a \overline{k}/k -twist $f^{\tau} \colon Y^{\tau} \to X$ of $f \colon Y \to X$ such that

$$f^{\tau}(Y^{\tau}(k)) = \{x \in X(k) : [Y_x] = [\tau]\}.$$

(See [Sko01, §2.2] or [Poo14, §8.4] for details on the construction.) Therefore,

$$X(k) = \coprod_{[\tau] \in \mathrm{H}^{1}(k,G)} f^{\tau}(Y^{\tau}(k)).$$
(3.2)

Example 3.5. Let $Y \subset \mathbb{P}^5$ be the complete intersection cut out by the following equations:

$$s^{2} = xy + 5z^{2},$$

$$s^{2} - 5t^{2} = x^{2} + 3xy + 2y^{2},$$

$$u^{2} = 12x^{2} + 111y^{2} + 13z^{2}$$

and let $\sigma \colon \mathbb{P}^5 \to \mathbb{P}^5$ denote the involution $(s:t:u:x:y:z) \mapsto (-s:-t:-u:x:y:z)$. Note that since $V(s^2, s^2 - 5t^2, u^2) \subset \mathbb{P}^2$ and $V(xy + 5z^2, x^2 + 3xy + 2y^2, 12x^2 + 111y^2 + 13z^2)$

¹If you are not familiar with torsors, you should think of Y as a scheme that "locally" over X is isomorphic to $G \times U$. See [Poo14, §6.5] or [Sko01, §2] for precise definitions.

are both empty, $\sigma|_Y$ has no fixed points. Thus the quotient map $f: Y \to X := Y/\sigma$ is a torsor under the finite étale group $\mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z}$.

Let us consider $X(\mathbb{Q})$. A \mathbb{Q} -point on X is the image of a degree 2 zero-dimensional closed subscheme on Y whose $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}$ -points are interchanged by σ , i.e.,

$$X(\mathbb{Q}) = \coprod_{[d] \in \mathbb{Q}^{\times}/\mathbb{Q}^{\times 2}} \left\{ \{P, \sigma(P)\} : P \in Y(\mathbb{Q}(\sqrt{d})), \tau(P) \in \{P, \sigma(P)\} \ \forall \tau \in \operatorname{Gal}(\mathbb{Q}(\sqrt{d})/\mathbb{Q}) \right\}.$$

The condition that $\tau(P) \in \{P, \sigma(P)\}$ for all $\tau \in \operatorname{Gal}(\mathbb{Q}(\sqrt{d})/\mathbb{Q})$ implies that $P = (s_0\sqrt{d} : t_0\sqrt{d} : u_0\sqrt{d} : x_0 : y_0 : z_0)$ where $(s_0 : t_0 : u_0 : x_0 : y_0 : z_0)$ is a \mathbb{Q} -point on a variety Y^d cut out by the equations

$$ds^{2} = xy + 5z^{2},$$

$$d(s^{2} - 5t^{2}) = x^{2} + 3xy + 2y^{2},$$

$$du^{2} = 12x^{2} + 111y^{2} + 13z^{2}.$$
(3.3)

In other words,

$$X(\mathbb{Q}) = \prod_{[d] \in \mathbb{Q}^{\times}/\mathbb{Q}^{\times 2}} f^d(Y^d(\mathbb{Q})).$$

where $f^d \colon Y^d \to X$ is obtained by quotienting by $\sigma|_{Y^d}$.

The partition given in (3.2) is preferable to that in (3.1), despite the additional machinery required, since (3.2) allows us to use Brauer-Manin conditions on Y^{τ} to obtain conditions on X. Indeed, (3.2) implies that

$$X(k) \subset \bigcup_{[\tau] \in \mathrm{H}^{1}(k,G)} f^{\tau}(Y^{\tau}(\mathbb{A}_{k})^{\mathrm{Br}}).$$

Furthermore, this containment holds for any torsor $f: Y \to X$ under a finite étale group G. Thus, we have

$$X(k) \subset X(\mathbb{A}_k)^{\text{et,Br}} := \bigcap_{\substack{f \colon Y \to X \text{ torsor} \\ \text{under finite étale } G}} \bigcup_{\substack{[\tau] \in \mathrm{H}^1(k,G)}} f^{\tau}(Y^{\tau}(\mathbb{A}_k)^{\mathrm{Br}}).$$
(3.4)

The set $X(\mathbb{A}_k)^{\text{et,Br}}$ is called the **étale-Brauer set** of X. It can be strictly smaller than the Brauer-Manin set [Sko99], so gives a stronger obstruction.

Proposition 3.6. Assume that X is proper. For any torsor $f: Y \to X$ under a finite étale k-group G, $Y^{\tau}(\mathbb{A}_k) = \emptyset$ for all but finitely many $[\tau] \in H^1(k, G)$.

Proof. This is [Sko01, Prop. 5.3.2].

Corollary 3.7. If X is proper, then $X(\mathbb{A}_k)^{\text{et,Br}}$ is closed in the adelic topology.

Proof. This is [Sko01, Prop. 5.3.3].

10

 \diamond

3.3. Beyond étale-Brauer. In 2010, Poonen constructed a Châtelet surface bundle X over a curve C/k such that $X(\mathbb{A}_k)^{\text{et,Br}} \neq \emptyset$ and $X(k) = \emptyset$. This example demonstrates that the étale-Brauer obstruction is *insufficient* to explain all counterexamples to the Hasse principle. Similar examples have since been constructed by Harpaz–Skorobogatov [HS14], Colliot-Thélène–Pál–Skorobogatov [CTPS], and Smeets [Sme]; each successive example shows that the étale-Brauer obstruction is *still* insufficient to explain all failures of the Hasse principle even if we restrict to a smaller class of projective varieties \mathcal{S} . For example, it is not enough to restrict to:

- varieties of dimension at most 2 [HS14],
- varieties which are uniruled [CTPS],
- varieties with trivial Albanese variety [Sme], or,
- if the *abc* conjecture holds, simply connected varieties [Sme].

The above examples have a fundamental feature in common: X is obtained as a fiber product $Y \times_{\mathbb{P}^1} Z$ with the following properties

- (1) the image of Y(k) in $\mathbb{P}^1(k)$ is a finite set T and
- (2) for all $t \in T$, the fiber of $Z \to \mathbb{P}^1$ above t has no rational points.

These properties immediately imply that $X(k) = \emptyset$. Indeed, by factoring the map $X \to \mathbb{P}^1$ through Y, property (1) implies that all k-points of X lie over T; however, by factoring the map $X \to \mathbb{P}^1$ through Z, property (2) shows that no k-points lie over T.

The difficulty in the constructions is in ensuring that X has the desired properties (e.g., 2-dimensional, uniruled, trivial Albanese, etc.) and that $X(\mathbb{A}_k)^{\text{et,Br}} \neq \emptyset$, and in this step the arguments can vary significantly. See [Poo14, §8.6.2] for a nice explanation (with pictures!) of a slight variation on the example of Colliot-Thélène, Pál, and Skorobogatov [CTPS, §3].

4. Geometry and arithmetic

We are interested in determining classes of varieties \mathcal{S} , defined by some geometric property, for which

- (1) \mathcal{S} satisfies the Hasse principle, i.e., $X(\mathbb{A}_k) \neq \emptyset \Rightarrow X(k) \neq \emptyset \forall X \in \mathcal{S}$,
- (2) the Brauer-Manin obstruction is the only obstruction to the Hasse principle for \mathcal{S} , i.e., $X(\mathbb{A}_k)^{\mathrm{Br}} \neq \emptyset \Rightarrow X(k) \neq \emptyset \ \forall X \in \mathcal{S}$, or
- (3) the étale-Brauer obstruction is the only obstruction to the Hasse principle for \mathcal{S} , i.e., $X(\mathbb{A}_k)^{\text{et,Br}} \neq \emptyset \Rightarrow X(k) \neq \emptyset \ \forall X \in \mathcal{S}.$

Remark 4.1. We will sometimes say "the Brauer-Manin obstruction (or the étale-Brauer obstruction) is sufficient to explain all failures of the Hasse principle for S" instead of "the Brauer-Manin obstruction (or the étale-Brauer obstruction) is the only obstruction to the Hasse principle for S".

Example 4.2. The Hasse-Minkowski theorem says that all quadric hypersurfaces satisfy the Hasse principle.

Example 4.3. If the Tate-Shafarevich group of any elliptic curve is finite, then the Brauer-Manin obstruction is sufficient to explain all failures of the Hasse principle on genus 1 curves [Man71]. More precisely, if C is a genus 1 curve over k, and the Tate–Shafarevich group of the Jacobian of *this particular curve* C is finite, then $C(k) \neq \emptyset$ if and only if $C(\mathbb{A}_k)^{\text{Br}} \neq \emptyset$. By the Lang-Nishimura lemma [Lan54, Nis55] (also see [VA13, Lemma 1.1]), the existence of a smooth k-rational point is a (k-)birational invariant of proper integral varieties. Thus, it will be helpful to understand the classification of smooth proper surfaces up to birational equivalence. As every smooth proper surface is projective [Zar58b], we reduce to considering smooth projective surfaces.

Remark 4.4. This section was heavily influenced by Beauville's book *Complex Algebraic Surfaces* [Bea96], Hassett's article *Rational surfaces over nonclosed fields* [Has09], and Várilly-Alvarado's article *Arithmetic of del Pezzo surfaces* [VA13].

4.1. Kodaira dimension and other numerical invariants. Let X be a smooth projective variety and let ω_X denote the canonical sheaf. The Kodaira dimension of X, denoted $\kappa(X)$ is $\max_n \dim(\phi_{\omega_X^{\otimes n}}(X))$ if $\mathrm{H}^0(X, \omega_X^{\otimes n}) \neq \emptyset$ for some n, and $-\infty$ otherwise. Note that $\kappa(X) \in \{-\infty, 0, \ldots, \dim(X)\}.$

Exercise 4.5. Let X be a curve. Prove that

$$\kappa(X) = -\infty \Leftrightarrow g(X) = 0, \quad \kappa(X) = 0 \Leftrightarrow g(X) = 1, \text{ and } \kappa(X) = 1 \Leftrightarrow g(X) \ge 2.$$

The Kodaira dimension of X gives a rough measure of the geometric complexity of X. Varieties of smaller Kodaira dimension are typically easier to classify. Varieties X of maximal Kodaira dimension, i.e., with $\dim(X) = \kappa(X)$, are said to be of general type.

To state the classification of surfaces of low Kodaira dimension, we will need some additional numerical invariants. The irregularity of X is $q(X) := \dim Alb_X$, where Alb_X denotes the Albanese variety of X, and the geometric genus of X is $p_g(X) := h^0(X, \omega_X)$. More generally, we may consider the plurigenera of $X \{P_n(X) := h^0(X, \omega_X^{\otimes n})\}_{n>1}$.

The Betti numbers of X are $b_i := \dim \operatorname{H}^i(X^{\operatorname{sep}}, \mathbb{Q}_\ell), i = 0, \ldots 4$, where ℓ is a prime different from the characteristic of k; they are independent of the choice of ℓ . We write Pic X for the Picard group of X and NS X for the Néron-Severi group of X, i.e., the group of divisors modulo algebraic equivalence. We write $\rho(X)$ for the (geometric) Picard rank of X, i.e., $\rho(X) := \operatorname{rank} \operatorname{NSPic} X^{\operatorname{alg}}$.

4.2. Geometry of surfaces of Kodaira dimension $-\infty$.

Theorem 4.6 (Enriques [Enr49] in characteristic 0, Mumford [Mum69] in characteristic p). Let X be a smooth projective surface over a field k. If $\kappa(X) = -\infty$ then $X_{k^{\text{alg}}}$ is ruled, *i.e.*, there exist a curve C and a morphism (over k^{alg}) $f: X_{k^{\text{alg}}} \to C$ whose generic fiber is isomorphic to $\mathbb{P}^1_{\mathbf{k}(C)}$.

Since there are no rational curves on abelian varieties, any map $\overline{X} \to A$, where A is an abelian variety, factors through C. Thus, by the universal property of the Albanese variety, Alb(X) must be isomorphic to Jac(C). In particular, if C has positive genus, then the image of $X \to Alb(X)$ is a curve that is geometrically isomorphic to C and the generic fiber of $X \to im(X \to Alb(X))$ is a curve of genus 0. As the map $X \to Alb(X)$ is defined over k, we have the following.

Proposition 4.7. If $X_{k^{\text{alg}}}$ is ruled over a curve of positive genus, then there exists a higher genus curve C/k and a morphism $f: X \to C$, defined over k, whose generic fiber is a genus 0 curve, i.e., X is a conic bundle over a positive genus curve.

By [Bea96, Prop. III.21], if $\kappa(X) = -\infty$ then $X_{k^{\text{alg}}}$ is ruled over a positive genus curve if and only if q(X) > 0. Let us now consider smooth projective surfaces X with $\kappa(X) = -\infty$ and q(X) = 0.

Theorem 4.8 (Castelnuovo, Zariski [Zar58a] in positive characteristic, see also [Lan81]). Let X be a smooth projective surface. Then $P_2(X) = 0$ and q(X) = 0 if and only if $X_{k^{\text{alg}}}$ is birational to \mathbb{P}^2 .

Remark 4.9. Castelnuovo and Zariski proved the forwards direction. The backwards direction follows since P_2 and and q are birational invariants.

A theorem of Iskovskikh further partitions such surfaces.

Theorem 4.10 ([Isk79, Thm. 1]). Let X be a smooth projective geometrically rational surface over k. Then ω_X^{-1} is ample or X is k-birational to a conic bundle over a genus 0 curve.

Remark 4.11. The two possibilities are not exclusive. For example, $\mathbb{P}^1 \times \mathbb{P}^1$ has ample anti-canonical sheaf and can be realized as a conic bundle over \mathbb{P}^1 .

We say that a smooth projective surface X is a del Pezzo surface if ω_X^{-1} is ample. The degree of a del Pezzo surface is the self-intersection number $\omega_X \cdot \omega_X$.

Theorem 4.12 ([Man86, Thm. 24.4] if k is perfect, [VA13, Thm. 1.6] in general). Let X be a del Pezzo surface of degree d over k. Then $X_{k^{\text{sep}}}$ is isomorphic to the blow-up of $\mathbb{P}^2_{k^{\text{sep}}}$ at 9 - d points in general position or d = 8 and $X_{k^{\text{sep}}}$ is isomorphic to $\mathbb{P}^1_{k^{\text{sep}}} \times \mathbb{P}^1_{k^{\text{sep}}}$. In particular, $1 \leq d \leq 9$.

If X is a del Pezzo surface of degree $d \ge 3$, then the anticanonical sheaf is very ample and embeds X as a smooth degree d surface in \mathbb{P}^d . If X is a degree 2 del Pezzo surface, then the anticanonical map $f: X \to \mathbb{P}^2$ realizes X as a smooth double cover of \mathbb{P}^2 ramified along a quartic curve. If X is a degree 1 del Pezzo surface, then X can be realized as a smooth sextic hypersurface in the weighted projective space $\mathbb{P}(1, 1, 2, 3)$; see [VA13, §1.5.4] for more details.

4.3. Arithmetic of surfaces of Kodaira dimension $-\infty$. As discussed in the previous section, a surface of Kodaira dimension $-\infty$ is birational to one of

- (1) A conic bundle over a curve of genus ≥ 1 ,
- (2) A conic bundle over a curve of genus 0, or
- (3) a del Pezzo surface of degree $1 \le d \le 9$.

As explained in $\S3.3$, Colliot-Thélène, Pál and Skorobogatov [CTPS] have demonstrated that the étale-Brauer obstruction is *insufficient* to explain all failures of the Hasse principle for (1). This is in stark contrast to our expectations for (2) and (3). Indeed, we have

Conjecture 4.13 ([CTS80]). The (algebraic) Brauer-Manin obstruction is the only obstruction to the Hasse principle (and weak approximation) for geometrically rational surfaces.

Remark 4.14. The Brauer group of a geometrically rational surface is purely algebraic, so the Brauer-Manin set and the algebraic Brauer-Manin set are equal.

Classical results imply that del Pezzo surfaces of degree at least 5 satisfy the Hasse principle (see e.g. [VA13, §2] for proofs) so Conjecture 4.13 holds in these cases.² In fact, del Pezzo surfaces of degree 5 and 7 are known to always have a rational point! We note that del Pezzo surfaces of degree at least 5 have trivial Brauer group [Man86, Thm. 29.3] so satisfying the Hasse principle is (in this case) equivalent to sufficiency of the Brauer-Manin obstruction.

Del Pezzo surfaces of degree at most 4 can have non-trivial Brauer group and for d = 4, 3 or 2, there exist degree d del Pezzo surfaces that fail the Hasse principle [BSD75, SD62, KT04]. Degree 1 del Pezzo surfaces always have a k-rational point since $\omega_X^{\otimes -1}$ has a unique base point; however, degree 1 del Pezzo surfaces can fail to satisfy weak approximation [VA08].

Conjecture 4.13 is known for very few cases of del Pezzos surfaces of degree at most 4, even conditionally. The strongest result in this direction is due to Wittenberg [Wit07], building on ideas of Swinnerton-Dyer [SD95]. Wittenberg proves that "sufficiently general" del Pezzo surfaces of degree 4 satisfy Conjecture 4.13 assuming Schinzel's hypothesis and finiteness of Tate-Shafarevich groups of elliptic curves over number fields [Wit07, Thm. 3.2].

In the case of rational conic bundles, Conjecture 4.13 if the conic fibration has at most 5 degenerate fibers [CTSSD87a, CTSSD87b, CT90, SS91] or if the degenerate fibers of the fibration lie over Q-rational points [BMS14]. This latter result of Browning, Matthiesen, and Skorobogatov was the first result for rational conic bundles with no assumption on the number of degenerate fibers.

4.4. Surfaces of Kodaira dimension 0. In this section, we restrict to the case that k has characteristic 0. For the results in positive characteristic, see [Mum69, BM77, BM76].

Theorem 4.15 ([Bea96, Thm. VIII.2]). Let k be a field of characteristic 0 and let X/k be a minimal surface of Kodaira dimension 0. Then X lies in exactly one of the following cases.

- (1) $p_g = q = 0$. In this case $\omega_X^{\otimes 2} \cong \mathcal{O}_X$ and X is an Enriques surface. (2) $p_g = 1, q = 0$. In this case $\omega_X \cong \mathcal{O}_X$ and X is a K3 surface. (3) $p_g = 0, q = 1$. In this case X is a bielliptic surface, i.e., $X_{k^{\text{alg}}} \cong (E_1 \times E_2)/G$ where G is a finite group of translations of E_1 such that $E_2/G \cong \mathbb{P}^1$.
- (4) $p_g = 1, q = 2$. In this case X is a twist of an Abelian surface.

Example 4.16. Smooth quartic surfaces in \mathbb{P}^3 , smooth complete intersections of a quadric and a cubic in \mathbb{P}^4 , and smooth complete intersections of 3 quadrics in \mathbb{P}^5 are all examples of K3 surfaces.

Assuming finiteness of Tate-Shafarevich groups, we completely understand failures of the Hasse principle on bielliptic surfaces and twists of abelian surfaces.

Theorem 4.17. [Lin40, Rei42, Man71, Sko99] Assume that Tate-Shafarevich groups of abelian surfaces are finite. Then

- (1) twists of abelian surfaces may fail the Hasse principle,
- (2) the Brauer-Manin obstruction is sufficient to explain all failures of the Hasse principle on twists of abelian surfaces,
- (3) the Brauer-Manin obstruction is insufficient to explain all failures of the Hasse principle on bielliptic surfaces, and

²Del Pezzo surfaces of degree at least 5 are k-birational to \mathbb{P}^2 as soon as they have a rational point, so del Pezzos surfaces of degree at least 5 satisfy weak approximation as soon as they satisfy the Hasse principle.

(4) the étale-Brauer obstruction is sufficient to explain all failures of the Hasse principle on bielliptic surfaces.

Proof. For (1), we may take $X = C \times C$ where C is the counterexample of Lind and Reichardt from §1. Manin proved (2)[Man71] and Skorobogatov constructed a bielliptic surface that demonstrates (3) [Sko99]. It remains to prove (4).

Let X be a bielliptic surface. Then ω_X is nontrivial and $\omega_X^{\otimes 4}$ or $\omega_X^{\otimes 6}$ is trivial [Bea96, Cor. VIII.7]. Therefore, ω_X defines a nontrivial finite étale cover $\pi \colon X' \to X$. Since ω'_X is trivial and $\chi(\mathcal{O}_{X'}) = \deg(\pi)\chi(\mathcal{O}_X)$ [Bea96, Lemma VI.3], X' is a twist of an Abelian surface. By (3.2), $X(k) \neq \emptyset$ if and only if $X'^{\tau}(k) \neq \emptyset$ for some τ . Since X'^{τ} is a twist of an abelian surface, Manin's result implies that $X(k) \neq \emptyset$ if and only if $X'^{\tau}(\mathbb{A}_k)^{\operatorname{Br}} \neq \emptyset$ for some τ . This completes the proof.

The above proof shows that the study of bielliptic surfaces is naturally related to the study of (twists of) abelian surfaces. A similar statement holds for Enriques surfaces and K3 surfaces.

Theorem 4.18. [Bea96, Prop. III.17] Let Y be a K3 surface and let $\sigma: Y \to Y$ be a fixed point free involution. Then $X = Y/\sigma$ is an Enriques surface. Conversely, if X is an Enriques surface, then there is a K3 surface Y and an étale degree 2 morphism $f: Y \to X$.

K3 surfaces are simply connected so have no nontrivial étale covers. Thus, the Brauer-Manin obstruction on a K3 surface is the same as the étale-Brauer obstruction. A similar argument to that in Theorem 4.17 yields:

Corollary 4.19. If the Brauer-Manin obstruction is sufficient to explain all failures of the Hasse principle for K3 surfaces, then the étale-Brauer obstruction is sufficient to explain all failures of the Hasse principle for Enriques surfaces.

Skorobogatov has conjectured that the Brauer-Manin obstruction is indeed sufficient to explain all failres of the Hasse principle and weak approximation for K3 surfaces [Sko09].

Remark 4.20. The Brauer-Manin obstruction is necessary to explain all failures of the Hasse principle and weak approximation for K3 surfaces. Indeed, even the algebraic Brauer-Manin obstruction does not suffice[Wit04, HVA13]. We also know that the étale-Brauer obstruction is necessary to explain all failures of the Hasse principle for Enriques surfaces [VAV11, BBM⁺].

5. A detailed example

The goal of this section is to sketch the proof of the following theorem.

Theorem 5.1 ([VAV11, BBM⁺]). Let $Y \subset \mathbb{P}^5$ be the K3 surface cut out by the following equations

$$s^{2} = xy + 5z^{2},$$

$$s^{2} - 5t^{2} = x^{2} + 3xy + 2y^{2},$$

$$u^{2} = 12x^{2} + 111y^{2} + 13z^{2}$$

let $\sigma: \mathbb{P}^5 \to \mathbb{P}^5$ denote the involution $(s:t:u:x:y:z) \mapsto (-s:-t:-u:x:y:z)$, and let X denote the Enriques surface Y/σ . Then

$$X(\mathbb{A}_{\mathbb{Q}})^{\mathrm{et},\mathrm{Br}} = \emptyset \quad \text{and } X(\mathbb{A}_{\mathbb{Q}})^{\mathrm{Br}} \neq \emptyset.$$

In §5.1, we prove that $Y(\mathbb{A}_{\mathbb{Q}})$ is nonempty and in §5.2, we prove that $X(\mathbb{A}_{\mathbb{Q}})^{\text{et,Br}} = \emptyset$. Next in §5.3, we prove that $X(\mathbb{A}_{\mathbb{Q}})^{\mathrm{Br}_1} \neq \emptyset$ and finally in §5.4, we prove that $\mathrm{Br} X = \mathrm{Br}_1 X$ and so $X(\mathbb{A}_{\mathbb{O}})^{\mathrm{Br}} \neq \emptyset$.

5.1. Local solubility.

Proposition 5.2. We have $Y(\mathbb{A}_{\mathbb{O}}) \neq \emptyset$, so $X(\mathbb{A}_{\mathbb{O}}) \neq \emptyset$.

Proof. Let us first recall the statement of the Weil conjectures. For any smooth projective *n*-dimensional variety V over \mathbb{F}_q , we may define

$$\zeta(V,s) = \exp\left(\sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \frac{\#V(\mathbb{F}_{q^m})}{m} q^{-sm}\right).$$

Then the Weil conjectures (now theorems [Del74]) state that:

- (1) $\zeta(V,s) = \prod_{i=0}^{2n} P_i(q^{-s})^{(-1)^{i+1}}$ where $P_i(T) \in \mathbb{Z}[T]$, and over \mathbb{C} , $P_i(T)$ factors as $\prod_j (1 \alpha_{i,j}T)$ with $P_0(T) = 1 T$ and $P_{2n} = 1 q^n T$. (2) $\zeta(V, n s) = \pm q^{\chi(V)(\frac{n}{2} s)} \zeta(V, s)$,
- (3) $|\alpha_{i,j}| = q^{i/2}$ for all $i \in [0, 2n]$ and all j, and
- (4) If V is the reduction of a smooth variety W over a global field, then deg(P_i) = $b_i(W(\mathbb{C}))$ where b_i denotes the i^{th} Betti number.

Exercise 5.3. Show that (1) implies that

$$\#V(\mathbb{F}_{q^m}) = \sum_{i,j} (-1)^i \alpha_{i,j}^m,$$

for all $m \ge 0$.

By applying the Jacobian criterion over \mathbb{Z} , we see that Y/\mathbb{Q} is smooth and that Y has good reduction modulo p for all p outside of

 $\{2, 3, 5, 13, 37, 59, 151, 157, 179, 821, 881, 1433\}.$

Exercise 5.4. Verify the above claim. (You may want to use Magma or Macaulav2.) \diamond

Let p be a prime of good reduction for Y. The Betti numbers of any K3 surface are $b_0 = 1, b_1 = 0, b_2 = 22, b_3 = 0, b_4 = 1$. Thus, the Weil conjectures imply that

$$\#Y(\mathbb{F}_p) = 1 + p^2 + \sum_{j=1}^{22} \alpha_{2,j}.$$

Since $|\alpha_{2,j}| = p$, we must have that $|\#Y(\mathbb{F}_p) - 1 - p^2| \leq 22p$. In particular, if $p \geq 23$ then $\#Y(\mathbb{F}_p) \neq \emptyset$. Since Y has good reduction at \mathbb{F}_p , any \mathbb{F}_p -point lifts to a \mathbb{Q}_p point by Hensel's Lemma [Poo14, Thm. 3.5.54]. Thus, $Y(\mathbb{Q}_p) \neq \emptyset$ for all p outside of

 $\{2, 3, 5, 7, 11, 13, 17, 19, 37, 59, 151, 157, 179, 821, 881, 1433\}.$

One can check that $Y(\mathbb{R}) \neq \emptyset$ and that for p > 5 in our remaining list Y has a smooth \mathbb{F}_p -point. Then we can use Hensel's Lemma to verify that we have the following points over

 \diamond

 $\mathbb{Q}_2, \mathbb{Q}_3$, and \mathbb{Q}_5 :

$$\left(\sqrt{129} : 2\sqrt{21/5} : \sqrt{2113} : 1 : 4 : 5 \right) \in Y(\mathbb{Q}_2), \left(0 : 0 : \sqrt{821/5} : -2 : 1 : \sqrt{2/5} \right) \in Y(\mathbb{Q}_3), \left(1 : 2\sqrt{-1} : \sqrt{1801} : 1 : -4 : 1 \right) \in Y(\mathbb{Q}_5).$$

Thus $Y(\mathbb{A}_{\mathbb{Q}}) \neq \emptyset$.

5.2. Lack of \mathbb{Q} -points.

Proposition 5.5. $X(\mathbb{A}_{\mathbb{O}})^{\text{et,Br}} = \emptyset$.

Proof. Recall that

$$X(\mathbb{A}_{\mathbb{Q}})^{\mathrm{et,Br}} = \left(\bigcup_{[d]\in\mathbb{Q}^{\times}/\mathbb{Q}^{\times 2}} f^{d}(Y^{d}(\mathbb{A}_{\mathbb{Q}})^{\mathrm{Br}})\right) \cap X(\mathbb{A}_{\mathbb{Q}})^{\mathrm{Br}}$$

and that Y^d is as in (3.3).

Exercise 5.6. Prove that if d is a squarefree integer divisible by a prime p different from 2 and 5, then $Y^d(\mathbb{Q}_p) = \emptyset$.

Exercise 5.7. Prove that if d < 0, then $Y^d(\mathbb{R}) = \emptyset$.

Exercise 5.8. Prove that if $d \equiv 2 \mod 3$, then $Y^d(\mathbb{Q}_3) = \emptyset$.

Exercise 5.9. Prove that $Y^{10}(\mathbb{Q}_5) = \emptyset$.

From the above exercises, we see that $X(\mathbb{A}_{\mathbb{Q}})^{\text{et},\text{Br}} = f(Y(\mathbb{A}_{\mathbb{Q}})^{\text{Br}})$. Thus it remains to prove that $Y(\mathbb{A}_{\mathbb{Q}})^{\text{Br}} = \emptyset$. Note that Y is a double cover of the degree 4 del Pezzo surface $S \subset \mathbb{P}^4$ given by

$$s^2 = xy + 5z^2,$$

 $s^2 - 5t^2 = x^2 + 3xy + 2y^2,$

which was studied by Birch and Swinnerton-Dyer [BSD75]. Let g denote the double cover morphism $Y \to S$. The functoriality of the Brauer group shows that $g(Y(\mathbb{A}_{\mathbb{Q}})^{\mathrm{Br}}) \subset S(\mathbb{A}_{\mathbb{Q}})^{\mathrm{Br}}$. Thus, the following lemma completes the proof of Proposition 5.5.

Lemma 5.10 ([BSD75, §§4,6]). The algebra $\mathcal{A} := (5, (x+y)/x)_2 \in \operatorname{Br} \mathbf{k}(S)$ is in the image of Br S and $S(\mathbb{A}_{\mathbb{Q}})^{\mathcal{A}} = \emptyset$.

Proof. Since
$$xy = s^2 - 5z^2$$
 and $(x+y)(x+2y) = s^2 - 5t^2$ on S, by (2.2) we have

$$\mathcal{A} = \left(5, \frac{x+y}{x}\right)_2 = \left(5, \frac{x+2y}{x}\right)_2 = \left(5, \frac{x+y}{y}\right)_2 = \left(5, \frac{x+2y}{y}\right)_2 \in \operatorname{Br} \mathbf{k}(S).$$

Thus, by the exact sequence (2.3) and Lemma 2.10, $\mathcal{A} \in \operatorname{Br} S$. Let us compute $S(\mathbb{A}_{\mathbb{Q}})^{\mathcal{A}}$. If v is split in $\mathbb{Q}(\sqrt{5})/\mathbb{Q}$ (including $v = \infty$), then $5 \in \mathbb{Q}_v^{\times 2}$ and so $\operatorname{inv}_v(\mathcal{A}(P_v)) = 0$ for all $P_v \in S(\mathbb{Q}_v)$.

 \diamond

 \diamond

 \diamond

Let v be a finite place that is inert in $\mathbb{Q}(\sqrt{5})/\mathbb{Q}$. Let $P = (s_0 : t_0 : x_0 : y_0 : z_0) \in S(\mathbb{Q}_v)$ and assume that $y_0 \neq 0$. By the strong triangle inequality

$$0 = v(1) = v\left(\frac{x_0 + 2y_0}{y_0} - \frac{x_0 + y_0}{y_0}\right) \ge \min\left\{v(x_0/y_0 + 2), v(x_0/y_0 + 1)\right\}.$$

Thus, if $v(x_0) \ge v(y_0)$ then at least one of $v(x_0/y_0 + 2), v(x_0/y_0 + 1)$ is equal to 0. Thus $\operatorname{inv}_v(\mathcal{A}(P_v)) = 0$ by Example 2.7.

Now let $P_v = (s_0 : t_0 : x_0 : y_0 : z_0) \in S(\mathbb{Q}_v)$ with $v(x_0) < v(y_0)$. Then a similar argument shows that one of $\{1+y_0/x_0, 1+2y_0/x_0\}$ is a v-adic unit and so $\operatorname{inv}_v(\mathcal{A}(P_v)) = 0$. Since there are no \mathbb{Q}_v -points of S with $x_0 = y_0 = 0$, this shows that $\operatorname{inv}_v(\mathcal{A}(P_v)) = 0$ for all $P_v \in S(\mathbb{Q}_v)$ and all inert v.

It remains to consider the case when v = 5. Let $P = (s_0 : t_0 : x_0 : y_0 : z_0) \in S(\mathbb{Q}_5)$. Without loss of generality we may assume that $v(s_0), v(t_0), v(x_0), v(y_0), v(z_0)$ are all non-negative and that at least one is 0. Then modulo 5 we have that

$$s_0^2 \equiv x_0 y_0 \equiv x_0^2 + 3x_0 y_0 + 2y_0^2$$

In particular, if one of x_0 or y_0 is 0 modulo 5, then x_0, y_0 and s_0 are 0 modulo 5. However, if $x_0 \equiv y_0 \equiv s_0 \mod 5$, then $5z_0^2 \equiv -5t_0^2 \equiv 0 \mod 25$ which results in a contradiction. Thus, we have $x_0, y_0 \neq 0 \mod 5$.

Since $x_0^2 + 2x_0y_0 + 2y_0^2 \equiv 0 \mod 5$, x_0/y_0 is equivalent to 1 or 2 modulo 5. Further, since $(s_0/y_0)^2 \equiv x_0/y_0 \mod 5$, x_0/y_0 is a square modulo 5 and hence must be 1 modulo 5. Then $(x_0 + y_0/y_0) \equiv 2 \mod 5$ and so $(x_0 + y_0)/y_0$ is not a norm from $\mathbb{Q}_5(\sqrt{5})$. Hence, we have

$$\operatorname{inv}_{v}(\mathcal{A}(P_{v})) = \begin{cases} 0 & \text{if } v \neq 5\\ \frac{1}{2} & \text{if } v = 5 \end{cases}$$

and so $S(\mathbb{A}_{\mathbb{Q}})^{\mathcal{A}} = \emptyset$.

5.3. Nonempty algebraic Brauer set. The goal of this section is to prove that $X(\mathbb{A}_{\mathbb{Q}})^{\mathrm{Br}_1} \neq \emptyset$. To do so we must first determine $\mathrm{Br}_1 X/\mathrm{Br} \mathbb{Q}$. Recall (see (2.4)) that we have an isomorphism

$$\frac{\operatorname{Br}_1 X}{\operatorname{Br}_0 X} \xrightarrow{\sim} \operatorname{H}^1\left(G_{\mathbb{Q}}, \operatorname{Pic} \overline{X}\right).$$

The (geometric) Picard group of an Enriques surface is isomorphic to $\mathbb{Z}/2 \times \mathbb{Z}^{10}$ and the quotient Num \overline{X} with its intersection pairing is isomorphic to $U \oplus E_8(-1)$, the unique even unimodular lattice of rank 10 and signature (1,9)[CD89, Thms. 1.2.1, 2.5.1 and Prop. 1.2.1]. To compute Pic \overline{X} as a Galois module, we must find explicit curves which generate the Picard group.

Consider the degeneracy locus of the net of quadrics corresponding to Y, i.e., consider

$$Z: \det\left(\lambda M_1 + \mu M_2 + \nu M_3\right) = 0,$$

where M_1, M_2 , and M_3 are the symmetric matrices associated to a basis Q_1, Q_2, Q_3 of the net of quadrics. Since each matrix M_i is a block matrix, with four blocks of size 1 (corresponding to s^2, t^2, u^2 , and z^2) and one block of size 2, one can easily deduce that Z is a union of 4 lines and a conic. The singular points of Z correspond to rank 4 quadrics in the net. For example, the 6 singular points obtained from an intersection of 2 lines correspond to the rank 4 quadrics

$$\begin{array}{rl} s^2 - xy - 5z^2, & s^2 - 5t^2 - (x+y)(x+2y), \\ u^2 - 12x^2 - 111y^2 - 13z^2, & 13s^2 - 5u^2 + 60x^2 - 13xy + 555y^2, \\ 5t^2 + x^2 + 2xy + 2y^2 - 5z^2, & 65t^2 - 5u^2 + 73x^2 + 26xy + 581y^2. \end{array}$$

Each rank 4 quadric will give us two pencils of genus 1 curves on Y. Indeed, over $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}$ any rank 4 quadric may be written as $\ell_0\ell_1 - \ell_2\ell_3$ for some linear forms ℓ_i . Hence any rank 4 quadric in 6 variables yields (over $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}$) two pencils of 3-planes: $V(\ell_0 - T\ell_2, \ell_1 - \frac{1}{T}\ell_3)$ and $V(\ell_0 - T\ell_3, \ell_1 - \frac{1}{T}\ell_2)$. Intersecting with Y yields two pencils of genus 1 curves, each fiber realized as the intersection of two quadrics with a 3-plane. Thus we obtain 28 classes of curves on Y which we denote by $F_1, G_1, \ldots, F_{14}, G_{14}$, where for each i, F_i and G_i are obtained from the same rank 4 quadric.

Exercise 5.11. Prove that for all i, $F_i + G_i$ is equal to the hyperplane section and that $\{F_i, G_i\}$ is fixed by σ . Verify that

$$\#\left\{i:\sigma(F_i)=F_i,\sigma(G_i)=G_i\right\}=9.$$

Possibly after relabeling, we will assume that $F_1, G_1, \ldots, F_9, G_9$ are fixed by σ .

The curve classes fixed by σ are exactly the classes that descend to X. Indeed, one can check that for every F_i there exists a morphism $\phi_i \colon X \to \mathbb{P}^1$ such that the following diagram commutes

$$Y \xrightarrow{f} X$$
$$\downarrow |F_i| \qquad \qquad \downarrow \phi_i$$
$$\mathbb{P}^1 \xrightarrow{T \mapsto T^2} \mathbb{P}^1$$

Each ϕ_i has exactly two double fibers; all other fibers are reduced. Let C_i and \tilde{C}_i denote the classes of the reduced parts of the nonreduced fibers of ϕ_i . Additionally, for all G_i there exists a map $\psi_i \colon X \to \mathbb{P}^1$ with the analogous properties; we write D_i and \tilde{D}_i for the classes of the reduced parts of the nonreduced fibers of ψ_i . After possibly interchanging D_i and \tilde{D}_i , we may assume that

$$C_i + D_i = \widetilde{C}_j + \widetilde{D}_j$$
, $2(C_i - \widetilde{C}_i) = 2(D_i - \widetilde{D}_i) = 0$, $f^*C_i = f^*\widetilde{C}_i = F_i$, and $f^*D_i = f^*\widetilde{D}_i = G_i$
for all i and j .

Exercise 5.12. Prove that for all $i \neq j$

$$F_i^2 = G_i^2 = 0, \ F_i \cdot G_j = F_i \cdot F_j = G_i \cdot G_j = 2, \ \text{and} \ F_i \cdot G_i = 4$$

Then use the projection formula [Liu02, p. 399] to deduce that for all $i \neq j$

$$C_i^2 = D_i^2 = 0, \ C_i \cdot D_j = C_i \cdot C_j = D_i \cdot D_j = 1, \ \text{and} \ C_i \cdot D_i = 2.$$

 \diamond

These intersection numbers show that the sublattice of Pic \overline{Y} generated by G_1, F_1, \ldots, F_{14} has rank 15 and discriminant 2^{17} . Further, the sublattice of Num \overline{X} generated by D_1, C_1, \ldots, C_9 has rank 10 and discriminant 4. However, Num \overline{X} is an even unimodular lattice of rank 10,

so $\langle D_1, C_1, \ldots, C_9 \rangle$ is a proper lattice. A computation shows that there are exactly two even unimodular lattices in Num $\overline{X} \otimes \mathbb{Q}$ that contain $\langle D_1, C_1, \ldots, C_9 \rangle$, namely

$$L_1 := \left\langle \frac{(D_1 + C_2 + \dots + C_9)}{2}, C_1, \dots, C_9 \right\rangle, \text{ and } L_2 := \left\langle \frac{(C_1 + C_2 + \dots + C_9)}{2}, D_1, \dots, C_9 \right\rangle.$$

The action of the absolute Galois group $G_{\mathbb{Q}}$ on these curve classes is described in [VAV11, Table A.2]. We note that the action factors through a 2-group, so $\mathrm{H}^1(G_{\mathbb{Q}}, L_i)$ is a 2 group. Equipped with this table, we can compute that for i = 1, 2

$$\mathrm{H}^{1}(G_{\mathbb{Q}}, L_{i})[2] \cong \frac{(L_{i}/2L_{i})^{G_{\mathbb{Q}}}}{L_{i}^{G_{\mathbb{Q}}}/2L_{i}^{G_{\mathbb{Q}}}} = 0.$$

Thus, regardless of whether Num $\overline{X} = L_1$ or L_2 , $\mathrm{H}^1(\mathbb{G}_{\mathbb{Q}}, \operatorname{Num} \overline{X}) = 0$.

Recall that $\operatorname{Pic} \overline{X}$ fits into an exact sequence

$$0 \longrightarrow \langle K_X \rangle \longrightarrow \operatorname{Pic} \overline{X} \longrightarrow \operatorname{Num} \overline{X} \longrightarrow 0.$$

Since $\mathrm{H}^1(G_{\mathbb{Q}}, \operatorname{Num} \overline{X}) = 0$, the long exact sequence from cohomology yields a surjective map $\mathrm{H}^1(G_{\mathbb{Q}}, \langle K_X \rangle) \to \mathrm{H}^1(G_{\mathbb{Q}}, \operatorname{Pic} \overline{X})$. By [Sko01, Thm. 6.1.2], we have

$$X(\mathbb{A}_{\mathbb{Q}})^{\mathrm{Br}_{1}} = X(\mathbb{A}_{\mathbb{Q}})^{\mathrm{im}\,\mathrm{H}^{1}(G_{\mathbb{Q}},\langle K_{X}\rangle)} = \bigcup_{[\tau]\in\mathrm{H}^{1}(G_{\mathbb{Q}},\langle K_{X}\rangle)} f^{\tau}\left(Y^{\tau}(\mathbb{A}_{\mathbb{Q}})\right).$$

By Proposition 5.2, $Y(\mathbb{A}_{\mathbb{Q}}) \neq \emptyset$, hence $X(\mathbb{A}_{\mathbb{Q}})^{\mathrm{Br}_1} \neq \emptyset$, as desired.

5.4. **Transcendental Brauer elements.** In this section we will sketch a proof of the following result.

Theorem 5.13 ([BBM⁺]). We have Br $X = Br_1 X$, in particular $X(\mathbb{A}_k)^{Br} = X(\mathbb{A}_k)^{Br_1}$.

5.4.1. General results. Let S be a smooth proper k-rational surface and let $\pi: Y \to S$ be a smooth proper double cover. We will explain how π can be leveraged to understand certain Brauer classes on Y. Combining (2.3) with the functoriality of the Brauer group, we obtain the following commutative diagram with exact rows.

$$\begin{array}{ccc} 0 \longrightarrow (\operatorname{Br} Y)[2] \longrightarrow (\operatorname{Br} \mathbf{k}(Y))[2] & \longrightarrow (\partial_{V}) & \bigoplus_{V \in Y^{(1)}} \operatorname{H}^{1}(\kappa(V), \frac{1}{2}\mathbb{Z}/\mathbb{Z}) \\ & & \pi^{*} \uparrow & & \pi^{*} \uparrow \\ 0 \longrightarrow (\operatorname{Br} S)[2] \longrightarrow (\operatorname{Br} \mathbf{k}(S))[2] & \longrightarrow (\partial_{V}) & \bigoplus_{V' \in S^{(1)}} \operatorname{H}^{1}(\kappa(V'), \frac{1}{2}\mathbb{Z}/\mathbb{Z}) \end{array}$$

We make two important observations:

- S is k-rational so $\operatorname{Br} S = \operatorname{Br}_0 S$, and
- $\mathbf{k}(Y)/\mathbf{k}(S)$ is a cyclic extension so ker $\pi^* = \operatorname{Br} \mathbf{k}(Y)/\mathbf{k}(S)$ is completely understood (see (2.2)).

Proposition 5.14. Let B denote the branch locus of π and let Z_1, \ldots, Z_n be a basis for Pic S with $Z_i \neq B$ for all i. Assume that B is geometrically integral. If $\alpha \in \operatorname{Br} \mathbf{k}(S)$ such that $\pi^* \alpha \in \operatorname{Br} Y$, then there exists a $\beta \in \operatorname{Br} \mathbf{k}(S)$ such that $\partial_{V'}(\beta) = 0$ for all $V' \neq Z_i$, B and $\pi^* \beta = \pi^* \alpha$. Sketch of proof. By the above commutative diagram, for any $V' \in S^{(1)}$ and any irreducible component $V \subset \pi^{-1}(V')$, we have

$$\partial_V(\pi^*\alpha) = \pi^*\partial_{V'}(\alpha).$$

Since $\pi^* \alpha \in \text{Br } Y$, we must have that $\pi^* \partial_{V'}(\alpha) = 0$ for all $V' \in S^{(1)}$. Further, if $V' \neq B$ then the kernel of

$$\frac{\kappa(V')^{\times}}{\kappa(V')^{\times 2}} \cong \mathrm{H}^{1}\left(\kappa(V'), \frac{1}{2}\mathbb{Z}/\mathbb{Z}\right) \xrightarrow{\pi^{*}} \mathrm{H}^{1}\left(\kappa(V), \frac{1}{2}\mathbb{Z}/\mathbb{Z}\right) \cong \frac{\kappa(V)^{\times}}{\kappa(V)^{\times 2}}$$

is generated by $[g|_{V'}]$, where $g \in \mathbf{k}(S)^{\times}$ is such that \sqrt{g} generates the extension $\mathbf{k}(Y)/\mathbf{k}(S)$ and $v_{V'}(g) = 0$. In particular, if $V' \neq B$, then there is a unique nontrivial element in the kernel of π^* .

Let D be the union of all curves $V' \in S^{(1)}$ such that $\partial_{V'}(\alpha) \neq 0$. Then there exist integers m_1, \ldots, m_n and a function $f \in \mathbf{k}(S)^{\times}$ such that

$$\operatorname{div}(f) = D - m_1 Z_1 - \dots m_n Z_n.$$

Then the quaternion algebra $\alpha' := (g, f)$ is such that $\partial_{V'}(\alpha') \neq 0$ for all components V' of D and $\partial_{V'}(\alpha') = 0$ for all $V' \neq Z_i, B$ and V' not contained in D. In addition, since g is a square in $\mathbf{k}(Y)^{\times}$, $\alpha' \in \ker \pi^*$ and in particular $\partial_{V'}(\alpha') \in \ker \pi^*$. Hence $\partial_{V'}(\alpha') = \partial_{V'}(\alpha)$ for all $V' \neq B, Z_i$. Thus $\beta := \alpha - \alpha'$ has the desired properties.

Remark 5.15. Proposition 5.14 is sharp in the sense that we cannot enlarge the set of $V' \in Y^{(1)}$ for which $\partial_{V'}(\alpha) = \partial_{V'}(\beta)$. For instance, the classification of rational surfaces implies that there is a choice of Z_1, \ldots, Z_n such that $S \setminus (Z_1 \cup \cdots \cup Z_n) \cong \mathbb{A}^2$ so $\operatorname{Br} S \setminus (Z_1 \cup \cdots \cup Z_n) = \operatorname{Br}_0 S$.

This proposition implies that if we care only about the unramified classes in the image of π^* , we may restrict to considering elements of Br U_S , where $U_S := S \setminus (B \cup Z_1 \cup \cdots \cup Z_n)$. Then we may use similar arguments to characterize the elements $\alpha \in \operatorname{Br} U_S$ such that $\pi^* \alpha \in \operatorname{Br}_0 Y$ or such that $\pi^* \in \operatorname{Br}_1 Y$.

Proposition 5.16 ([IOOV, Thm. 1.3] for $\operatorname{Br}_1 Y$ and [BBM⁺, Prop. 2.8] for $\operatorname{Br}_0 Y$). If $\alpha \in \operatorname{Br} U_S$ is such that $\pi^* \alpha \in \operatorname{ker}(\operatorname{Br} \mathbf{k}(Y) \to \operatorname{Br} \mathbf{k}(\overline{Y}))$, then there exists a divisor $D \subset X^{\operatorname{sep}} \setminus \pi^{-1}(B)$, integers m_1, \ldots, m_n , and a function $f \in \mathbf{k}(S_{k^{\operatorname{sep}}})^{\times}$ such that $\partial_B(\alpha) = [f|_B]$ and

$$\operatorname{div}(f) = \pi_*(D) - m_1 Z_1 - \dots m_n Z_n.$$

If $\pi^* \alpha \in \operatorname{Br}_0 Y$, then we may further assume that $D \subset X \setminus \pi^{-1}(B)$ and $f \in \mathbf{k}(S)^{\times}$.

Building on ideas from [CV14a], given any function ℓ on B contained in the subgroup

$$\mathbf{k}(B)_{\mathcal{E}} := \left\{ \ell \in \mathbf{k}(B) : \operatorname{div}(\ell) \bmod 2 \in \langle Z_1 | _B, Z_2 | _B, \dots, Z_n | _B \subset \operatorname{Div}(B) / 2 \operatorname{Div}(B) \rangle \right\},\$$

we may construct a central simple algebra α_{ℓ} such that $\alpha_{\ell} \in \text{Br } U_S$ and $\partial_B(\alpha_{\ell}) = [\ell]$ [BBM⁺, §2.2]. Further, this construction induces a homomorphism

$$\beta \colon \frac{\mathbf{k}(B)_{\mathcal{E}}^{\times}}{k^{\times}\mathbf{k}(B)^{\times 2}} \longrightarrow \frac{\operatorname{Br} Y}{\operatorname{Br}_0 Y}, \quad [\ell] \mapsto \pi^* \alpha_{\ell}.$$

Proposition 5.16 characterizes the kernel of β and $\beta^{-1}(\text{Br}_1 Y)$ (see [BBM⁺, Thms. 2.1 and 2.2] for precise statements). Additionally, if k is separably closed, then by [CV14a, Thm. I] β surjects onto (Br Y)[2].

5.4.2. Brauer classes on Y. Recall that there is a 2-to-1 morphism $\pi: Y \to S$, where S is the del Pezzo surface given by

$$xy + 5z^{2} - s^{2} = x^{2} + 3xy + 2y^{2} - s^{2} + 5t^{2} = 0.$$

As S is rational over $K_0 := \mathbb{Q}(\sqrt{5}, i, \sqrt{-2 + 2\sqrt{2}})$, we may apply the results of the previous section. The branch curve of π is a smooth genus 5 curve given by $V(12x^2+111y^2+13z^2) \subset S$. Note that $\pi^{-1}(B)_{\text{red}} \cong B$ is fixed by σ ; write \widetilde{B} for the quotient B/σ . The curve \widetilde{B} is a (geometrically) hyperelliptic genus 3 curve.

Let K_1/K_0 be the splitting field of the Weierstrass points of \widetilde{B} and let $Z_1, \ldots, Z_6 \subset S$ be rational curves defined over K_0 that generate $\operatorname{Pic} \overline{S}$ and such that $U := S \setminus (Z_1 \cup \cdots \cup Z_6) \cong \mathbb{A}^2$.³ We claim that the following facts hold:

- (1) Br₁ $\pi^{-1}(U_{K_1})/$ Br K_1 is generated by classes of the form $\beta(\ell)$ for $\ell \in \mathbf{k}(\widetilde{B}_{K_1})$ such that $\operatorname{div}(\ell) \in 2 \operatorname{Div}(\widetilde{B})$ [BBM⁺, Thm. 2.2],
- (2) Over K_1 , β is injective [BBM⁺, §5, Appendix A],
- (3) There exists an element $\tilde{\ell} \in \mathbf{k}(\tilde{B}_{K_1})$ such that $\operatorname{div}(\tilde{\ell}) \in 2\operatorname{Div}(\tilde{B})$ and $\beta(\tilde{\ell}) \otimes_{K_1} \overline{\mathbb{Q}}$ generates $f^*\operatorname{Br} \overline{X}$ [BBM⁺, Prop. 4.1], and
- (4) For all $\ell \in (\mathbf{k}(\widetilde{B}_{K_1})_{\mathcal{E}}/K_1^{\times}\mathbf{k}(B)^{\times 2})^{\operatorname{Gal}(K_1/K_0)}$ such that $\operatorname{div}(\ell) \in 2\operatorname{Div}(\widetilde{B}), \ \beta(\ell) \otimes_{K_1} \overline{\mathbb{Q}}$ does not generate $f^*\operatorname{Br} \overline{X}$ [BBM⁺, §5, Appendix A].

5.4.3. Sketch of proof of Theorem 5.13. Using a criterion of Beauville [Bea09], Várilly-Alvarado and I computed that the map f^* : Br $\overline{X} \to \text{Br } \overline{Y}$ is injective. Thus if Br $X \neq \text{Br}_1 X$, then there exists an element $\alpha_Y \in \text{Br } Y$ such that $\alpha_Y \otimes_k \overline{\mathbb{Q}}$ generates $f^* \text{Br } \overline{X}$. Thus, we can reduce to working on the K3 surface Y.

Let K_1 , K_0 and U be as above. Assume that there exists an $\alpha_Y \in \operatorname{Br} Y$ such that $\alpha_Y \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \overline{\mathbb{Q}}$ generates $f^* \operatorname{Br} \overline{X}$. Then $\alpha_Y \in \left(\frac{\operatorname{Br}(\pi^{-1}(U_{K_1}))}{\operatorname{Br}_0(\pi^{-1}(U_{K_1}))}\right)^{\operatorname{Gal}(K_1/K_0)}$. Since $\alpha_Y \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \overline{\mathbb{Q}}$ generates $f^* \operatorname{Br} \overline{X}$, by (3) there exists a $\tilde{\ell} \in \mathbf{k}(\widetilde{B}_{K_1})$ with $\operatorname{div}(\tilde{\ell}) \in 2\operatorname{Div}(\widetilde{B})$ such that $\alpha_Y \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \overline{\mathbb{Q}} = \beta(\tilde{\ell}) \otimes_{K_1} \overline{\mathbb{Q}}$ or equivalently such that $\alpha_Y - \beta(\tilde{\ell}) \in \operatorname{Br}_1 \pi^{-1}(U_{K_1})$. Then by (1), $\alpha_Y = \beta(\ell)$ for some $\ell \in \mathbf{k}(\widetilde{B})$ such that $\operatorname{div}(\ell) \in 2\operatorname{Div}(\widetilde{B})$. Further, since α_Y is fixed by $\operatorname{Gal}(K_1/K_0)$, ℓ must be fixed by $\operatorname{Gal}(K_1/K_0)$ modulo $(\ker \beta)K_1^{\times}\mathbf{k}(B)^{\times 2}$. This gives a contradiction by (2) and (4).

6. Project descriptions

I have tried to come up with projects that are exploratory in nature. In complete generality, many of these projects may be very ambitious. But I believe these problems are already interesting in some examples, so I encourage you to start there! For each project, I have listed some suggested references, as well as my best guess of what sorts of tools will be useful. **However**, I have not solved these problems, so I do not actually know what will be used!

6.1. Double covers of surfaces and 2-torsion Brauer classes. Let $\pi: X \to S$ be a smooth double cover of a rational geometrically ruled surface. If k is separably closed and has characteristic different from 2, the pullback map π^* : Br $\mathbf{k}(S) \to \operatorname{Br} \mathbf{k}(X)$ surjects onto the subgroup Br X[2] [CV14a]. Since every non-constant Brauer class on S is ramified somewhere, this means that we may study unramified 2-torsion Brauer classes on X by studying ramified Brauer classes on S, which is generally easier. The proof relies heavily

³Such a choice of curves exist, see $[BBM^+, \S3]$

on the separably closed hypothesis. If the ground field is *not* separably closed, does im π^* still contain Br X[2]? Theorem 2.2 in [BBM⁺] shows that the 2-torsion of algebraic Brauer group of an open set in X is contained in the image of π^* modulo some assumptions. Are the assumptions necessary? Can the result be extended to all of X?

Kresch and Tschinkel have computed the Brauer group of certain diagonal degree 2 del Pezzo surfaces [KT04]. Since any degree 2 del Pezzo surface is a double cover of \mathbb{P}^2 , you could play with some examples from this paper.

Suggested references: [BBM⁺, Sko, CV14a, KT04]

Preferable background: Galois cohomology, Picard groups, cyclic covers, residue maps

6.2. Relationship between Br Y and Br Y^{τ} where Y^{τ} is a twist of Y. If k is a global field, then the étale-Brauer set of X is

$$X(\mathbb{A}_k)^{\text{et,Br}} := \bigcap_{\substack{G \text{ finite étale } [\tau] \in \mathrm{H}^1(k,G) \\ a \ G-\text{torsor}}} \bigcup_{\substack{f^\tau (Y^\tau(\mathbb{A}_k)^{\mathrm{Br}\,Y^\tau}).}$$

To aid in computation of $X(\mathbb{A}_k)^{\text{et,Br}}$, it would be desirable to determine the strongest possible relationship between Br Y and Br Y^{τ} . You might start with considering the algebraic Brauer group and trying to understand how the action of G_k on Pic \overline{Y} differs from the action of G_k on Pic \overline{Y}^{τ} . Perhaps if p is coprime to the order of G, then Br₁ $Y[p] \cong$ Br₁ $Y^{\tau}[p]$? Suggested references: [Sko01, Poo14, Ier10]

Preferable background: Twists, étale cohomology, Galois cohomology

6.3. Central simple algebra representatives for *p*-torsion transcendental Brauer classes with p > 2. Let *k* be a separably closed field of characteristic different from *p*, let $\pi: X \to \mathbb{P}^2$ be a *p*-cyclic cover over *k*, and let *C* be the branch curve of π . Then there is an action of $\mathbb{Z}[\zeta]$ on Br *X* and Br $X[1-\zeta] \subset \operatorname{im} \pi^*$: Br $U \to \operatorname{Br} \mathbf{k}(X)$, where *U* is the open set of \mathbb{P}^2 obtained by removing *B* and a fixed line *L* [IOOV]. Furthermore, the elements of (Br *U*)[*p*] are characterized by their residues on *C*. Thus, if one can construct central simple algebras over $\mathbf{k}(\mathbb{P}^2)$, unramified on *U* and with prescribed residue at *C*, then one can construct representatives for the $(1 - \zeta)$ -torsion in Br *X*.

Let $P \in L \setminus (B \cap L)$, let $S' = \operatorname{Bl}_P(S)$, and let $X' = \operatorname{Bl}_{\pi^{-1}(P)}(X)$. Then S' is a ruled surface, with the ruling induced by the projection map $\mathbb{P}^2 \setminus P \to \mathbb{P}_T^1$, and there exists a double cover morphism $f' \colon X' \to S'$ whose branch locus is the strict transform of B. The generic fiber of the composition $X' \to S' \to \mathbb{P}^1$ is a curve C, with a model of the form $y^2 = cf(x)$, where f is a monic polynomial over k(T) and $c \in k(T)^{\times 2}$. Then the results and proofs of [CV14a] show that for any $\ell \in \mathbf{k}(B)^{\times}$, in the case p = 2,

$$\mathcal{A}_{\ell} := \operatorname{Cor}_{\mathbf{k}(B)/k(T)} \left((x - \alpha, \ell)_2 \right) \in \operatorname{Br} \mathbb{P}^2 \setminus (B \cup L).$$

Further, if p = 2 then $\partial_B(\mathcal{A}_\ell) = [\ell]$ [BBM⁺, Lemma 2.3].

For p > 2, does there exist an integer $1 \le i \le p - 1$ such that

$$\mathcal{A}_{\ell} := \operatorname{Cor}_{\mathbf{k}(B)/k(T)} \left((x - \alpha, \ell^{i})_{2} \right) \in \operatorname{Br} \mathbb{P}^{2} \setminus (B \cup L)$$

and $\partial_B(\mathcal{A}_\ell) = [\ell]?$

If so, then algebras of the form $\pi^* \mathcal{A}_{\ell}$ would generate the $(1 - \zeta)$ -torsion of Br X. If this does hold, then one could try to generalize [BBM⁺, §2] to *p*-cyclic covers of \mathbb{P}^2 . Suggested references: [CV14a, IOOV, BBM⁺] **Preferable background:** Blow-ups, Picard groups of rational surfaces, Computation of residues

6.4. The cokernel of $\operatorname{Br}_1 X \to \operatorname{H}^1(G_k, \operatorname{Pic} \overline{X})$. By the Hochschild-Serre spectral sequence, we have an exact sequence

$$\operatorname{Br}_1 X \to \operatorname{H}^1(G_k, \operatorname{Pic} \overline{X}) \to \operatorname{H}^3(G_k, \mathbb{G}_m).$$

If k is a global field, then $\mathrm{H}^3(G_k, \mathbb{G}_m) = 0$ so every element of $\mathrm{H}^1(G_k, \operatorname{Pic} \overline{X})$ lifts to an algebraic Brauer class on X. If k is an arbitrary field, this may no longer hold. For example, Uematsu showed that if $k = \mathbb{Q}(\zeta_3, a, b, c)$ where a, b, c are independent transcendentals, and X is a cubic surface, then the map $\mathrm{H}^1(G_k, \operatorname{Pic} \overline{X}) \to \mathrm{H}^3(k, \mathbb{G}_m)$ can be nonzero [Uem14].

Let X be a del Pezzo surface of degree 4, i.e., a smooth intersection of 2 quadrics in \mathbb{P}^4 . We may associate to X a pencil of quadrics $V \to \mathbb{P}^1$. A general fiber of V is rank 5; there is a reduced degree 5 subscheme $S \subset \mathbb{P}^1$ where the quadrics have rank strictly less than 5. There are necessary and sufficient conditions in terms of these quadrics of lower rank for the existence of a nontrivial element of $\mathrm{H}^1(G_k, \operatorname{Pic} \overline{X})$ [VAV14]. If, in addition, certain degenerate quadrics have a rational point (over their field of definition), then there is a construction which lifts a nontrivial element of $\mathrm{H}^1(G_k, \operatorname{Pic} \overline{X})$ to an algebraic Brauer class on X [VAV14].

This raises the question of whether this condition of having a rational point is necessary, i.e., does there exist a field k and a degree 4 del Pezzo surface over k with the map $\mathrm{H}^{1}(G_{k}, \operatorname{Pic} \overline{X}) \to \mathrm{H}^{3}(k, \mathbb{G}_{m})$ nontrivial?

The map $\mathrm{H}^1(G_k, \operatorname{Pic} \overline{X}) \to \mathrm{H}^3(G_k, \mathbb{G}_m)$ is the composition of two boundary maps:

(1) the map $\mathrm{H}^1(G_k, \operatorname{Pic} \overline{X}) \to \mathrm{H}^2(G_k, \mathbf{k}(\overline{X})^{\times}/\overline{k}^{\times})$ coming from the short exact sequence

$$0 \to \mathbf{k}(\overline{X})^{\times}/\overline{k}^{\times} \to \operatorname{Div} \overline{X} \to \operatorname{Pic} \overline{X} \to 0,$$

and

(2) the map $\mathrm{H}^2(G_k, \mathbf{k}(\overline{X})^{\times}/\overline{k}^{\times}) \to \mathrm{H}^3(G_k, \overline{k}^{\times})$ coming from the short exact sequence

$$0 \to \overline{k}^{\times} \to \mathbf{k}(\overline{X})^{\times} \to \mathbf{k}(\overline{X})^{\times}/\mathbf{k}^{\times} \to 0.$$

If all rank 4 quadrics in the pencil have a k-point, then the first boundary map $\mathrm{H}^1(G_k, \operatorname{Pic} \overline{X}) \to \mathrm{H}^2(G_k, \mathbf{k}(\overline{X})^{\times}/\overline{k}^{\times})$ is identically 0. If the rank 4 quadrics fail to have a k-point, then it is at least not obvious that the first boundary map is 0.

Suggested references: [VAV14, Uem14]

Preferable background: Galois cohomology, (some) geometry of pencils of quadrics

6.5. Brauer groups of del Pezzo surfaces. Let X be a del Pezzo surface over a global field k. Since X is geometrically rational, Br $X = Br_1 X$. Additionally, there are finitely many possibilities for Br₁ X/Br k [Cor07, Thm. 4.1]. If we fix the degree of X and assume that X is minimal, i.e., there are no Galois invariant subsets of pairwise skew (-1)-curves, what are the possibilities for Br₁ X/Br k? Alternatively (or in addition!), for each possible isomorphism class of Br₁ X/Br k, you could construct a del Pezzo surface X that has that particular Brauer group. For instance, you could try to construct a del Pezzo surface (necessarily of degree 1), with an order 5 Brauer class?

Suggested references: [VA13, VA08, Cor07, Car11]

Preferable background: Galois cohomology, blow-ups, del Pezzo surfaces, (maybe) root systems

6.6. 2-torsion transcendental classes on diagonal quartics. Let k be a field of characteristic different from 2 and let $X \subset \mathbb{P}^3$ be a diagonal quartic surface, i.e., X is given by

$$ax^4 + by^4 + cz^4 + dw^4 = 0$$

for some $a, b, c, d \in k^{\times}$. Note that X is a double cover of a del Pezzo surface of degree 2 (in four different ways in fact). For instance, consider $X \to V(ax^4 + by^4 + cz^4 + dw^2) \subset \mathbb{P}(2, 1, 1, 1)$. Using this double cover structure, Skorobogatov proved that Br \overline{X} has a Galois invariant element of order 2 [Sko, Prop. 3.6]. Skorobogatov asks:

- (1) When does the image of the natural map $\operatorname{Br} X \to \operatorname{Br} \overline{X}$ contain an element of order 2?
- (2) What is the full Galois action on $(Br \overline{X})[2]$

Evis Ieronymou studied the arithmetic of $X/\mathbb{Q}(i, \sqrt[4]{2})$ in the case that a = d = -b = -c = 1. In doing so, he computed representatives for $(\operatorname{Br} \overline{X})[2]$ [Ier10, Thm. 3.11]. He uses this to study the Brauer group of X over certain number fields [Ier10, §§4,5]. He proves that if $2 \notin \langle -1, 4, b/a, c/a, d/a \rangle \subset \mathbb{Q}^{\times}/\mathbb{Q}^{\times 4}$, then $(\operatorname{Br} X)[2] \to \operatorname{Br} \overline{X}$ is the 0 map. If 2 is in this subgroup, then the above questions are not answered. The methods of [BBM⁺] should give at least partial answers to the above questions.

Remark 6.1. The odd torsion is completely understood [IS15, ISZ11].

Suggested references: [Sko, Ier10, BBM⁺]

Preferable background: Computation of residues, Picard groups of K3 surfaces and del Pezzo surfaces.

References

- [AM72] M. Artin and D. Mumford, Some elementary examples of unirational varieties which are not rational, Proc. London Math. Soc. (3) 25 (1972), 75–95. MR0321934 (48 #299) ↑7
- [BBM⁺] Francesca Balestrieri, Jennifer Berg, Michelle Manes, Jennifer Park, and Bianca Viray, Insufficiency of the Brauer-Manin obstruction for Enriques surfaces. preprint, arXiv:1501.04974. ↑7, 15, 20, 21, 22, 23, 25
- [Bea09] Arnaud Beauville, On the Brauer group of Enriques surfaces, Math. Res. Lett. 16 (2009), no. 6, 927–934, DOI 10.4310/MRL.2009.v16.n6.a1. MR2576681 (2011b:14079) ↑22
- [Bea96] _____, Complex algebraic surfaces, 2nd ed., London Mathematical Society Student Texts, vol. 34, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1996. Translated from the 1978 French original by R. Barlow, with assistance from N. I. Shepherd-Barron and M. Reid. MR1406314 (97e:14045) ↑12, 13, 14, 15
- [BSD75] B. J. Birch and H. P. F. Swinnerton-Dyer, The Hasse problem for rational surfaces, J. Reine Angew. Math. 274/275 (1975), 164–174. Collection of articles dedicated to Helmut Hasse on his seventy-fifth birthday, III. MR0429913 (55 #2922) ↑14, 17
- [BM77] E. Bombieri and D. Mumford, Enriques' classification of surfaces in char. p. II, Complex analysis and algebraic geometry, Iwanami Shoten, Tokyo, 1977, pp. 23–42. MR0491719 (58 #10922a) ↑14
- [BM76] _____, Enriques' classification of surfaces in char. p. III, Invent. Math. 35 (1976), 197–232. MR0491720 (58 #10922b) ↑14

- [BMS14] T. D. Browning, L. Matthiesen, and A. N. Skorobogatov, Rational points on pencils of conics and quadrics with many degenerate fibers, Ann. of Math. (2) 180 (2014), no. 1, 381–402, DOI 10.4007/annals.2014.180.1.8. MR3194818 [↑]14
- [Car11] Andrea C. Carter, The Brauer group of del Pezzo surfaces, Int. J. Number Theory 7 (2011), no. 2, 261–287, DOI 10.1142/S1793042111003910. MR2782659 (2012c:14041) [↑]24
- [CT95] Jean-Louis Colliot-Thélène, Birational invariants, purity and the Gersten conjecture, K-theory and algebraic geometry: connections with quadratic forms and division algebras (Santa Barbara, CA, 1992), Proc. Sympos. Pure Math., vol. 58, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 1995, pp. 1–64. MR1327280 (96c:14016) ↑6
- [CT90] _____, Surfaces rationnelles fibrées en coniques de degré 4, Séminaire de Théorie des Nombres, Paris 1988–1989, Progr. Math., vol. 91, Birkhäuser Boston, Boston, MA, 1990, pp. 43–55 (French). MR1104699 (92j:14027) ↑14
- [CTPS] Jean-Louis Colliot-Thélène, Ambrus Pál, and Alexei N. Skorobogatov, Pathologies of the Brauer-Manin obstruction. ↑11, 13
- [CTS80] Jean-Louis Colliot-Thélène and Jean-Jacques Sansuc, La descente sur les variétés rationnelles, Journées de Géometrie Algébrique d'Angers, Juillet 1979/Algebraic Geometry, Angers, 1979, Sijthoff & Noordhoff, Alphen aan den Rijn—Germantown, Md., 1980, pp. 223–237 (French). MR605344 (82d:14016) ↑13
- [CTSSD87a] Jean-Louis Colliot-Thélène, Jean-Jacques Sansuc, and Peter Swinnerton-Dyer, Intersections of two quadrics and Châtelet surfaces. I, J. Reine Angew. Math. 373 (1987), 37–107. MR870307 (88m:11045a) ↑14
- [CTSSD87b] _____, Intersections of two quadrics and Châtelet surfaces. II, J. Reine Angew. Math. 374 (1987), 72–168. MR876222 (88m:11045b) ↑14
 - [CTS13] Jean-Louis Colliot-Thélène and Alexei N. Skorobogatov, Descente galoisienne sur le groupe de Brauer, J. Reine Angew. Math. 682 (2013), 141–165 (French, with English and French summaries). MR3181502 ↑7
 - [Con12] Brian Conrad, Weil and Grothendieck approaches to adelic points, Enseign. Math. (2) 58 (2012), no. 1-2, 61–97, DOI 10.4171/LEM/58-1-3. MR2985010 ↑8
 - [Cor07] Patrick Corn, The Brauer-Manin obstruction on del Pezzo surfaces of degree 2, Proc. Lond. Math. Soc. (3) 95 (2007), no. 3, 735–777, DOI 10.1112/plms/pdm015. MR2368282 (2009a:14027) ↑24
 - [CD89] François R. Cossec and Igor V. Dolgachev, Enriques surfaces. I, Progress in Mathematics, vol. 76, Birkhäuser Boston, Inc., Boston, MA, 1989. MR986969 (90h:14052) ↑18
 - [CV14a] Brendan Creutz and Bianca Viray, On Brauer groups of double covers of ruled surfaces, Math. Ann., posted on 2014, DOI 10.1007/s00208-014-1153-0. ↑7, 21, 22, 23
 - [CV14b] _____, Two torsion in the Brauer group of a hyperelliptic curve, Manuscripta Math., posted on 2014, DOI 10.1007/s00229-014-0721-7. ↑7
 - [Del74] Pierre Deligne, La conjecture de Weil. I, Inst. Hautes Études Sci. Publ. Math. 43 (1974), 273–307 (French). MR0340258 (49 #5013) ↑16
 - [EJ12] Andreas-Stephan Elsenhans and Jörg Jahnel, On the order three Brauer classes for cubic surfaces, Cent. Eur. J. Math. 10 (2012), no. 3, 903–926, DOI 10.2478/s11533-012-0042-6. MR2902222 ↑6
 - [Enr49] Federigo Enriques, Le Superficie Algebriche, Nicola Zanichelli, Bologna, 1949 (Italian). MR0031770 (11,202b) ↑12
 - [vG05] Bert van Geemen, Some remarks on Brauer groups of K3 surfaces, Adv. Math. 197 (2005), no. 1, 222–247, DOI 10.1016/j.aim.2004.10.004. MR2166182 (2006h:14025) ↑
 - [GS06] Philippe Gille and Tamás Szamuely, Central simple algebras and Galois cohomology, Cambridge Studies in Advanced Mathematics, vol. 101, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2006. MR2266528 (2007k:16033) ↑4, 5
 - [Gro68] Alexander Grothendieck, Le groupe de Brauer. III. Exemples et compléments, Dix Exposés sur la Cohomologie des Schémas, North-Holland, Amsterdam; Masson, Paris, 1968, pp. 88–188 (French). MR0244271 (39 #5586c) ↑7

- [Har96] David Harari, Obstructions de Manin transcendantes, Number theory (Paris, 1993), London Math. Soc. Lecture Note Ser., vol. 235, Cambridge Univ. Press, Cambridge, 1996, pp. 75–87, DOI 10.1017/CBO9780511662003.004 (French). MR1628794 (99e:14025) ↑7
- [HS05] David Harari and Alexei Skorobogatov, Non-abelian descent and the arithmetic of Enriques surfaces, Int. Math. Res. Not. 52 (2005), 3203–3228, DOI 10.1155/IMRN.2005.3203. MR2186792 (2006m:14031) ↑7
- [HS14] Yonatan Harpaz and Alexei N. Skorobogatov, Singular curves and the étale Brauer-Manin obstruction for surfaces, Ann. Sci. Éc. Norm. Supér. (4) 47 (2014), no. 4, 765–778 (English, with English and French summaries). MR3250063 ↑11
- [Has09] Brendan Hassett, Rational surfaces over nonclosed fields, Arithmetic geometry, Clay Math. Proc., vol. 8, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 2009, pp. 155–209. MR2498061 (2011a:14075) ↑12
- [HVAV11] Brendan Hassett, Anthony Várilly-Alvarado, and Patrick Varilly, Transcendental obstructions to weak approximation on general K3 surfaces, Adv. Math. 228 (2011), no. 3, 1377–1404, DOI 10.1016/j.aim.2011.06.017. MR2824558 (2012i:14025) ↑7
 - [HVA13] Brendan Hassett and Anthony Várilly-Alvarado, Failure of the Hasse principle on general K3 surfaces, J. Inst. Math. Jussieu 12 (2013), no. 4, 853–877. MR3103134 ↑7, 15
 - [Hoo80] Raymond T. Hoobler, A cohomological interpretation of Brauer groups of rings, Pacific J. Math. 86 (1980), no. 1, 89–92. MR586870 (81j:13003) ↑9
 - [Ier10] Evis Ieronymou, Diagonal quartic surfaces and transcendental elements of the Brauer groups, J. Inst. Math. Jussieu 9 (2010), no. 4, 769–798, DOI 10.1017/S1474748010000149. MR2684261 (2011g:14053) ↑7, 23, 25
 - [IS15] Evis Ieronymou and Alexei N. Skorobogatov, Odd order Brauer-Manin obstruction on diagonal quartic surfaces, Adv. Math. 270 (2015), 181–205, DOI 10.1016/j.aim.2014.11.004. MR3286534 [↑]25
 - [ISZ11] Evis Ieronymou, Alexei N. Skorobogatov, and Yuri G. Zarhin, On the Brauer group of diagonal quartic surfaces, J. Lond. Math. Soc. (2) 83 (2011), no. 3, 659–672, DOI 10.1112/jlms/jdq083. With an appendix by Peter Swinnerton-Dyer. MR2802504 (2012e:14046) ↑7, 25
 - [IOOV] Colin Ingalls, Andrew Obus, Ekin Ozman, and Bianca Viray, Unramified Brauer classes on cyclic covers of the projective plane. Preprint, arXiv:1310.8005. ↑7, 21, 23
 - [Isk79] V. A. Iskovskih, Minimal models of rational surfaces over arbitrary fields, Izv. Akad. Nauk SSSR Ser. Mat. 43 (1979), no. 1, 19–43, 237 (Russian). MR525940 (80m:14021) ¹³
 - [KT04] Andrew Kresch and Yuri Tschinkel, On the arithmetic of del Pezzo surfaces of degree 2, Proc. London Math. Soc. (3) 89 (2004), no. 3, 545–569, DOI 10.1112/S002461150401490X. MR2107007 (2005h:14060) ↑14, 23
 - [Lan54] Serge Lang, Some applications of the local uniformization theorem, Amer. J. Math. 76 (1954), 362–374. MR0062722 (16,7a) ↑12
 - [Lan81] William E. Lang, A short proof of Castelnuovo's criterion of rationality, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 264 (1981), no. 2, 579–582, DOI 10.2307/1998559. MR603783 (82m:14018) ↑13
 - [Lin40] Carl-Erik Lind, Untersuchungen über die rationalen Punkte der ebenen kubischen Kurven vom Geschlecht Eins, Thesis, University of Uppsala, 1940 (1940), 97 (German). [↑]2, 14
 - [Liu02] Qing Liu, Algebraic geometry and arithmetic curves, Oxford Graduate Texts in Mathematics, vol. 6, Oxford University Press, Oxford, 2002. Translated from the French by Reinie Erné; Oxford Science Publications. MR1917232 (2003g:14001) ↑19
 - [Man71] Y. I. Manin, Le groupe de Brauer-Grothendieck en géométrie diophantienne, Actes du Congrès International des Mathématiciens (Nice, 1970), Gauthier-Villars, Paris, 1971, pp. 401–411. MR0427322 (55 #356) ↑8, 11, 14, 15
 - [Man86] _____, Cubic forms, 2nd ed., North-Holland Mathematical Library, vol. 4, North-Holland Publishing Co., Amsterdam, 1986. Algebra, geometry, arithmetic; Translated from the Russian by M. Hazewinkel. MR833513 (87d:11037) ↑13, 14
 - [Mil80] James S. Milne, *Étale cohomology*, Princeton Mathematical Series, vol. 33, Princeton University Press, Princeton, N.J., 1980. MR559531 (81j:14002) ↑8

- [Mum69] David Mumford, Enriques' classification of surfaces in char p. I, Global Analysis (Papers in Honor of K. Kodaira), Univ. Tokyo Press, Tokyo, 1969, pp. 325–339. MR0254053 (40 #7266) ↑12, 14
- [NSW08] Jürgen Neukirch, Alexander Schmidt, and Kay Wingberg, Cohomology of number fields, 2nd ed., Grundlehren der Mathematischen Wissenschaften [Fundamental Principles of Mathematical Sciences], vol. 323, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 2008. MR2392026 (2008m:11223) ↑6
 - [New] Rachel Newton, Transcendental Brauer groups of singular abelian surfaces. Preprint, arXiv:1501.04519. ↑7
 - [Nis55] Hajime Nishimura, Some remarks on rational points, Mem. Coll. Sci. Univ. Kyoto. Ser. A. Math. 29 (1955), 189–192. MR0095851 (20 #2349) ↑12
- [Poo10] Bjorn Poonen, Insufficiency of the Brauer-Manin obstruction applied to étale covers, Ann. of Math. (2) **171** (2010), no. 3, 2157–2169, DOI 10.4007/annals.2010.171.2157. MR2680407 (2011g:14061) ↑
- [Poo14] _____, Rational points on varieties, 2014. unpublished, available at http://www-math.mit.edu/ poonen/papers/Qpoints.pdf. $\uparrow 6, 8, 9, 11, 16, 23$
- [Rei42] Hans Reichardt, Einige im Kleinen überall lösbare, im Grossen unlösbare diophantische Gleichungen, J. Reine Angew. Math. 184 (1942), 12–18 (German). [↑]2, 14
- [SS91] P. Salberger and A. N. Skorobogatov, Weak approximation for surfaces defined by two quadratic forms, Duke Math. J. 63 (1991), no. 2, 517–536, DOI 10.1215/S0012-7094-91-06322-2. MR1115119 (93e:11079) ↑14
- [Sel53] Ernst S. Selmer, Sufficient congruence conditions for the existence of rational points on certain cubic surfaces, Math. Scand. 1 (1953), 113–119. MR0057908 (15,290b) ↑
- [Sko99] Alexei N. Skorobogatov, Beyond the Manin obstruction, Invent. Math. 135 (1999), no. 2, 399–424, DOI 10.1007/s002220050291. MR1666779 (2000c:14022) ↑10, 14, 15
- [Sko01] _____, Torsors and rational points, Cambridge Tracts in Mathematics, vol. 144, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2001. MR1845760 (2002d:14032) ↑9, 10, 20, 23
- [Sko09] _____, Diagonal quartic surfaces, Explicit methods in number theory, 2009, pp. 1843–1920. Abstracts from the workshop held July 12–18, 2009; Organized by Karim Belabas, Hendrik W. Lenstra and Don B. Zagier; Oberwolfach Reports. Vol. 6, no. 3. MR2664991 ↑15
 - [Sko] _____, Cohomology and the Brauer group of double covers. preprint, http://wwwf.imperial.ac.uk/ anskor/doub8.pdf. $\uparrow 7, 23, 25$
- [SZ12] Alexei N. Skorobogatov and Yuri G. Zarhin, The Brauer group of Kummer surfaces and torsion of elliptic curves, J. Reine Angew. Math. 666 (2012), 115–140, DOI 10.1515/CRELLE.2011.121. MR2920883 ↑7
- [Sme] Arne Smeets, Insufficiency of the étale Brauer-Manin obstruction: towards a simply connected example. Preprint, arXiv:1409.6706. ↑11
- [SD62] H. P. F. Swinnerton-Dyer, Two special cubic surfaces, Mathematika 9 (1962), 54–56. MR0139989 (25 #3413) ↑14
- [SD95] Peter Swinnerton-Dyer, Rational points on certain intersections of two quadrics, Abelian varieties (Egloffstein, 1993), de Gruyter, Berlin, 1995, pp. 273–292. MR1336612 (97a:11099) ↑14
- [Uem14] Tetsuya Uematsu, On the Brauer group of diagonal cubic surfaces, Q. J. Math. 65 (2014), no. 2, 677–701, DOI 10.1093/qmath/hat013. MR3230382 [↑]24
- [VA08] Anthony Várilly-Alvarado, Weak approximation on del Pezzo surfaces of degree 1, Adv. Math. 219 (2008), no. 6, 2123–2145, DOI 10.1016/j.aim.2008.08.007. MR2456278 (2009j:14045) ↑6, 14, 24
- [VA13] _____, Arithmetic of del Pezzo surfaces, Birational geometry, rational curves, and arithmetic, Springer, New York, 2013, pp. 293–319. MR3114932 ↑12, 13, 14, 24
- [VAV14] Anthony Várilly-Alvarado and Bianca Viray, Arithmetic of del Pezzo surfaces of degree 4 and vertical Brauer groups, Adv. Math. 255 (2014), 153–181, DOI 10.1016/j.aim.2014.01.004. MR3167480 [↑]24

- [VAV11] _____, Failure of the Hasse principle for Enriques surfaces, Adv. Math. 226 (2011), no. 6, 4884–4901, DOI 10.1016/j.aim.2010.12.020. MR2775888 (2012g:14036) ↑15, 20
- [Wei48] André Weil, Sur les courbes algébriques et les variétés qui s'en déduisent, Actualités Sci. Ind., no. 1041 = Publ. Inst. Math. Univ. Strasbourg 7 (1945), Hermann et Cie., Paris, 1948 (French). MR0027151 (10,262c) ↑2
- [Wit04] Olivier Wittenberg, Transcendental Brauer-Manin obstruction on a pencil of elliptic curves, Arithmetic of higher-dimensional algebraic varieties (Palo Alto, CA, 2002), Progr. Math., vol. 226, Birkhäuser Boston, Boston, MA, 2004, pp. 259–267. MR2029873 (2005c:11082) ↑7, 15
- [Wit07] _____, Intersections de deux quadriques et pinceaux de courbes de genre 1/Intersections of two quadrics and pencils of curves of genus 1, Lecture Notes in Mathematics, vol. 1901, Springer, Berlin, 2007 (French). MR2307807 (2008b:14029) ↑14
- [Zar58a] Oscar Zariski, On Castelnuovo's criterion of rationality $p_a = P_2 = 0$ of an algebraic surface, Illinois J. Math. **2** (1958), 303–315. MR0099990 (20 #6426) \uparrow 13
- [Zar58b] _____, Introduction to the problem of minimal models in the theory of algebraic surfaces, Publications of the Mathematical Society of Japan, no. 4, The Mathematical Society of Japan, Tokyo, 1958. MR0097403 (20 #3872) ↑12

UNIVERSITY OF WASHINGTON, DEPARTMENT OF MATHEMATICS, BOX 354350, SEATTLE, WA 98195, USA

E-mail address: bviray@math.washington.edu *URL*: http://math.washington.edu/~bviray